# On the descendibility and extendability of homogeneous quasimorphisms

Shuhei Maruyama

GRADUATE SCHOOL OF MATHEMATICS, NAGOYA UNIVERSITY, JAPAN *Email address*: m17037h@math.nagoya-u.ac.jp

## Contents

Introduction	
Chapter 1. Preliminaries	13
1.1. Quasimorphism	13
1.2. Group cohomology and bounded cohomology	15
1.3. Characteristic classes	21
1.4. Transformation groups	24
Chapter 2. Non-descendible homogeneous quasimorphisms	27
2.1. General principle	27
2.2. A diagram via bounded cohomology and quasimorphism	29
2.3. On universal covering groups	31
2.4. Applications	35
Chapter 3. Non-extendable homogeneous quasimorphisms	39
3.1. Backgrounds and motivations	40
3.2. Extendable homogeneous quasimorphisms	42
3.3. Exact sequences	45
3.4. Examples	49
3.5. Explicit construction of a homogeneous quasimorphism	54
Bibliography	

### Introduction

A real-valued function  $\mu$  on a group  $\Gamma$  is called a *quasimorphism* if the condition

$$\sup_{\gamma_1,\gamma_2\in\Gamma}|\mu(\gamma_2)-\mu(\gamma_1\gamma_2)+\mu(\gamma_1)|<\infty$$

holds. A quasimorphism is called *homogeneous* if the condition

$$\mu(\gamma^n) = n\mu(\gamma)$$

is satisfied for any  $\gamma \in \Gamma$  and  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . By definition, homomorphisms and bounded functions from  $\Gamma$  to  $\mathbb{R}$  are quasimorphisms. We call a quasimorphism *trivial* if the quasimorphism is obtained as a sum of a homomorphism and a bounded function.

Quasimorphisms are related to various areas of mathematics, for example, Topology, Geometry, Algebra, and Dynamical Systems. The best known and earliest example of a homogeneous quasimorphism is the translation number, which was defined by Poincaré [**Poi85**] in his study on circle dynamics (see Example 1.4). Quasimorphisms also appeared in the study of characteristic classes. The Milnor-Wood inequality ([**Mil58**]) states that the Euler number of flat  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ -bundles over a surface has an upper bound, where a quasimorphism on the universal covering group  $\widetilde{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$  played a crucial role in the proof.

Quasimorphisms have also played an essential role in the study on bounded cohomology theory. Bounded cohomology of discrete groups was defined by Johnson [Joh72]. After that, in the celebrated paper [Gro82], Gromov introduced and studied bounded cohomology of topological spaces. In [Gro82], the Milnor-Wood inequality was reformulated as follows: the real Euler class is a bounded cohomology class and has the Gromov norm equal to 1/2. Quasimorphisms can be used to show the non-triviality of the second bounded cohomology (see also ICM-2006 proceeding [Mon06]). If we can construct a non-trivial homogeneous quasimorphism on a group  $\Gamma$ , then we immediately obtain a non-zero second bounded cohomology class of  $\Gamma$ . By using this method, it has been proved that a number of groups that

admit the second bounded cohomology of infinite dimension (for example, [Mit84] for the free groups and the non-amenable surface groups and [EF97] for the non-elementary word-hyperbolic groups; see also [Mon06]). In the last twenty years, many researchers have constructed homogeneous quasimorphisms on transformation groups (for example, [EP03], [GG04], [She14], and [BHW19]; see also ICM-2006 proceeding [Ghy07]).

Let us consider a group extension

$$1 \to K \xrightarrow{i} \Gamma \xrightarrow{p} G \to 1.$$

Throughout this thesis, we identify the group K with the normal subgroup i(K) of  $\Gamma$  under the map i. Let Q(K),  $Q(\Gamma)$ , and Q(G) be the space of the homogeneous quasimorphisms on K,  $\Gamma$ , and G, respectively. Then there is an exact sequence (LEMMA 1.5 and REMARK 1.7)

$$0 \to Q(G) \xrightarrow{p^*} Q(\Gamma) \xrightarrow{i^*} Q(K)^{\Gamma},$$

where  $Q(K)^{\Gamma}$  denotes the subspace of Q(K) whose elements are invariant under the conjugation action by  $\Gamma$  (see DEFINITION 1.6).

The main concerns of this thesis are the following two problems of homogeneous quasimorphisms: a descending problem and an extending problem. The descending problem asks whether a given element of  $Q(\Gamma)$  defines that of Q(G) or not, and the extending problem asks whether a given element of  $Q(K)^{\Gamma}$  is a restriction of that of  $Q(\Gamma)$  or not. To deal with the above problems, we introduce and study two spaces  $\mathcal{ND}$  and  $\mathcal{NE}$  defined below.

The space  $\mathcal{ND}$  is defined by

(0.0.1) 
$$\mathcal{ND} = Q(\Gamma) / (p^*Q(G) + H^1(\Gamma))$$

(see DEFINITION 2.1). Here  $H^1(\Gamma)$  is the first cohomology group of  $\Gamma$  with coefficients in  $\mathbb{R}$ , which is identified with the space of all homomorphisms from  $\Gamma$  to  $\mathbb{R}$ . Recall that a homomorphism is called a trivial homogeneous quasimorphism. Thus a non-trivial element in  $\mathcal{ND}$  is represented by a non-trivial homogeneous quasimorphism on  $\Gamma$  which does not descend to G. In this sense, we call  $\mathcal{ND}$  the space of non-descendible homogeneous quasimorphisms.

The space  $\mathcal{NE}$  is the following (DEFINITION 3.1):

(0.0.2) 
$$\mathcal{NE} = Q(K)^{\Gamma} / \left( i^* Q(\Gamma) + H^1(K)^{\Gamma} \right)$$

Here  $H^1(K)^{\Gamma}$  is the subspace of  $H^1(K)$  whose elements are invariant under the conjugation action by  $\Gamma$  (see (1.2.3)). A non-trivial element

in  $\mathcal{NE}$  is represented by a  $\Gamma$ -invariant non-trivial homogeneous quasimorphism on K which does not extend to  $\Gamma$ . Thus we call  $\mathcal{NE}$  the space of *non-extendable homogeneous quasimorphisms*. The triviality and non-triviality of this space has some applications to stable commutator length and the virtual splitting of the surjection  $p: \Gamma \to G$  (see Section 3.1).

Let us briefly describe the content of each chapter.

**Chapter 1.** This chapter is devoted to preliminaries. We recall definitions and basic properties of quasimorphisms, group and bounded cohomology, characteristic classes, and transformation groups.

Chapter 2. This chapter is based on [KM20], which is a joint work with Morimichi Kawasaki. In this chapter, we mainly focus on the space  $\mathcal{ND}$  of the group extension

$$(0.0.3) 0 \to \pi_1(G) \to \widetilde{G} \xrightarrow{p} G \to 1,$$

where G is a connected topological group,  $p: \widetilde{G} \to G$  is the universal covering, and  $\pi_1(G)$  is the fundamental group of G.

Let  $G^{\delta}$  be the group G with the discrete topology and  $\iota: G^{\delta} \to G$ the identity homomorphism. Then the homomorphism  $\iota$  induces the continuous map  $B\iota: BG^{\delta} \to BG$  between the classifying spaces. Thus we obtain the homomorphism

$$(B\iota)^* \colon H^{\bullet}_{top}(BG) \to H^{\bullet}_{top}(BG^{\delta}) \cong H^{\bullet}(G)$$

by pullback, where  $H^{\bullet}(-)$  and  $H^{\bullet}_{top}(-)$  denote the cohomology of groups and topological spaces with coefficients in  $\mathbb{R}$ , respectively. In this thesis, we call a cohomology class  $a \in H^{\bullet}(G)$  a *characteristic class* of foliated *G*-bundles if  $a \in Im(B\iota)^*$ .

Let  $H_b^{\bullet}(G)$  be the bounded cohomology of G with coefficients in  $\mathbb{R}$  and

$$c_G \colon H^{\bullet}_b(G) \to H^{\bullet}(G)$$

the comparison map (see Subsection 1.2.2). A class  $a \in H^{\bullet}(G)$  is called *bounded* if  $a \in \text{Im}(c_G)$ . One of the main theorems of the celebrated paper [**Gro82**] by Gromov is the following:

THEOREM ([**Gro82**]). If G is an algebraic subgroup of  $GL(n, \mathbb{R})$ , then each characteristic class of foliated G-bundles is bounded, that is, the following holds:

$$\operatorname{Im}(B\iota)^* \subset \operatorname{Im}(c_G).$$

The above theorem does not necessarily hold for an arbitrary topological group. Therefore, when G is not an algebraic subgroup of  $GL(n, \mathbb{R})$ , one may ask whether a given characteristic class is bounded

or not. If we ask the boundedness of characteristic classes of fiber bundles, then we need to deal with homeomorphism groups or diffeomorphism groups as G. However, when G is such a group, there are only a few characteristic classes that are known to be bounded or not (the known examples are listed in EXAMPLE 2.22).

Since the first real bounded cohomology is always trivial, the nontrivial boundedness problem occurs when the degree of the class is greater than or equal to two. So we consider classes in second cohomology groups. The study of the boundedness of characteristic classes of foliated G-bundles can be rephrased as the study of the space

(0.0.4) 
$$\operatorname{Im}(B\iota)^* \cap \operatorname{Im}(c_G) \subset H^2(G).$$

The following theorem clarifies a relation between the space (0.0.4) and the space  $\mathcal{ND}$  of non-descendible homogeneous quasimorphisms on the universal covering group  $\tilde{G}$ .

THEOREM A (THEOREM 2.17). For the space  $\mathcal{ND}$  for the group extension  $0 \to \pi_1(G) \to \widetilde{G} \to G \to 1$ , there is an isomorphism

 $\mathcal{ND} \cong \mathrm{Im}(B\iota)^* \cap \mathrm{Im}(c_G).$ 

THEOREM A states that any bounded characteristic classes of foliated G-bundles are characterized by non-trivial homogeneous quasimorphisms on  $\tilde{G}$ . In particular, if the space  $Q(\tilde{G})$  is trivial, then we can deduce that any non-zero characteristic classes of foliated G-bundles are unbounded. Note that many researchers have constructed nondescendible homogeneous quasimorphisms on the universal coverings of diffeomorphism groups (for example, [Giv90], [Ost06], [OT09], and [FOO019]).

One of the applications is the following. Let  $\operatorname{Symp}_0(S^2 \times S^2, \omega_{\lambda})$ and  $\operatorname{Cont}_0(S^3, \xi)$  be the identity component of the symplectomorphism group and the contact diffeomorphism group, respectively (see Section 1.4 and Subsection 2.4.1 for the definitions). If  $1 < \lambda \leq 2$ , there are canonical characteristic classes

$$(\mathfrak{o}_{S^2 \times S^2})_{\mathbb{R}} \in H^2_{\mathrm{top}}(B \operatorname{Symp}_0(S^2 \times S^2, \omega_{\lambda})) \cong \mathbb{R}$$

and

$$(\mathfrak{o}_{S^3})_{\mathbb{R}} \in H^2_{\mathrm{top}}(B\operatorname{Cont}_0(S^3,\xi)) \cong \mathbb{R}$$

which are defined by the coefficients change of the primary obstructions to the construction of a cross-section.

COROLLARY (COROLLARY 2.23). The following properties hold:

- (1) The class  $(B\iota)^*(\mathfrak{o}_{S^2 \times S^2})_{\mathbb{R}}$  is bounded.
- (2) The class  $(B\iota)^*(\mathfrak{o}_{S^3})_{\mathbb{R}}$  is unbounded.

Chapter 3. In this chapter, Section 3.2 is based on [Mar20], and Sections 3.3 and 3.4 are based on [KKM<sup>+</sup>21], where [KKM<sup>+</sup>21] is a joint work with Morimichi Kawasaki, Mitsuaki Kimura, Takahiro Matsushita, and Masato Mimura. Our main concern of this chapter is the space  $\mathcal{NE}$ .

Recall that, for a group extension  $1 \to K \xrightarrow{i} \Gamma \xrightarrow{p} G \to 1$ , there is an exact sequence

$$0 \to Q(G) \xrightarrow{p^*} Q(\Gamma) \xrightarrow{i^*} Q(K)^{\Gamma}.$$

Therefore, the non-descendibility of a homogeneous quasimorphism  $\mu \in Q(\Gamma)$  is equivalent to the non-triviality of the restriction  $\mu|_{K} = i^{*}\mu$ . In contrast, it is difficult to show the non-extendability of a given  $\Gamma$ -invariant non-trivial homogeneous quasimorphism on K. In fact, there has been only one such example found to the author's knowledge. For the identity component  $\operatorname{Symp}_{0}(\Sigma_{g}, \omega)$  of the symplectomorphism group and its normal subgroup  $\operatorname{Ham}(\Sigma_{g}, \omega)$  called the Hamiltonian diffeomorphism group, Py constructed in  $[\mathbf{Py06}]$  a  $\operatorname{Symp}_{0}(\Sigma_{g}, \omega)$ -invariant homogeneous quasimorphism on  $\operatorname{Ham}(\Sigma_{g}, \omega)$ . Kawasaki and Kimura showed in  $[\mathbf{KK19}]$  that Py's homogeneous quasimorphism does not extend to  $\operatorname{Symp}_{0}(\Sigma_{g}, \omega)$ .

There is another example to explain the difficulty of the extending problem. In Section 3.2, we show the extendability of the Ruelle invariant. Let D be the closed unit disk and  $\omega$  the standard symplectic form. Let  $\Gamma = \text{Symp}(D, \omega)$  be the symplectomorphism group and Kthe subgroup that preserves the boundary pointwise. The Ruelle invariant R is a homogeneous quasimorphism on K, which was defined in [**Rue85**]. It is known that the group K is contractible, and that the fundamental group of  $\Gamma$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z}$ .

The Ruelle invariant R is well defined since the group K is contractible and the same definition does not seem to be applicable to  $\Gamma$ since it is not. One may suspect that an extension of R does not exist on  $\Gamma$ ; however we can prove the following:

THEOREM B (THEOREM 3.8). There exists a homogeneous quasimorphism

 $\mathfrak{R}\colon\Gamma\to\mathbb{R}$ 

satisfying  $\mathfrak{R}|_{K} = R$ . In other words, the Ruelle invariant R is extendable to the group  $\Gamma$ .

As explained above, it is difficult to show the non-triviality of the space  $\mathcal{NE}$ . Note that the space  $\mathcal{NE}$  is defined for a pair  $(\Gamma, K)$  of

groups where K is a normal subgroup of  $\Gamma$ . To the best of the author's knowledge, there were no examples of finitely generated groups and its normal subgroups that admit non-trivial  $\mathcal{NE}$ . The following two theorems (THEOREM C and THEOREM D) give the first examples of such pairs of groups, which are derived from the low-dimensional hyperbolic geometry.

THEOREM C (THEOREM 3.2). Let  $\Gamma$  be the surface group of genus  $g \geq 2$  and  $K = [\Gamma, \Gamma]$  the commutator subgroup. Then the dimension of the space  $\mathcal{NE}$  is equal to one.

By the theorem of [Mit84], the surface group  $\Gamma$  admits infinite dimensional  $Q(\Gamma)$ . Moreover, since  $\Gamma/K \cong \mathbb{Z}^{2g}$ , we have  $Q(\Gamma/K) \cong$  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}^{2g}) \cong \mathbb{R}^{2g}$  (see PROPOSITION 1.2). Together with the exact sequence

$$0 \to Q(\Gamma/K) \to Q(\Gamma) \to Q(K)^{\Gamma},$$

the space  $Q(K)^{\Gamma}$  is infinite-dimensional. Therefore, both numerator and denominator of  $\mathcal{NE}$  are infinite-dimensional. However, THEOREM C claims that the quotient space  $\mathcal{NE}$  is finite-dimensional (more precisely, is just one-dimensional).

THEOREM D (THEOREM 3.3). Let  $\Sigma_g$  be a closed surface of genus  $g \geq 2$  and  $f \in \text{Homeo}_+(\Sigma_g)$  an orientation preserving homeomorphism. Set  $\Gamma = \pi_1(X_f)$  and  $K = [\Gamma, \Gamma]$ , where  $X_f$  is the mapping torus. If the mapping class [f] is a pseudo-Anosov element and in the Torelli group  $\mathcal{I}_q$ , then the dimension of the space  $\mathcal{NE}$  is equal to 2g + 1.

For THEOREM D, the similar phenomenon to THEOREM C can be observed. By the theorem of Thurston ([**Thu86**], [**Ota96**]), the mapping class [f] is a pseudo-Anosov element if and only if the mapping torus  $X_f$  admits a hyperbolic structure. Thus, by the theorem of [**EF97**], the fundamental group  $\Gamma$  of  $X_f$  has infinite dimensional  $Q(\Gamma)$ . Therefore, as the case of THEOREM C, the numerator and the denominator of  $\mathcal{NE}$  are infinite dimensional. However, THEOREM D asserts that the quotient  $\mathcal{NE}$  is finite-dimensional if the mapping class is in the Torelli group. The Torelli group is the subgroup of the mapping class group which act trivially on the homology of the surface. It is known that the Torelli group contains a pseudo Anosov element. Moreover, pseudo Anosov elements are generic in the Torelli group in the sense of Random Walk (see REMARK 3.4).

THEOREM C and THEOREM D are proved from a homological algebraic point of view, and we do not construct a non-extendable homogeneous quasimorphism in the proof. In Section 3.5, we give a description

of a non-zero element of  $\mathcal{NE}$  in Theorem C in terms of Poincaré's translation number (Theorem 3.30).

Acknowledgment. The author would like to thank his supervisor, Professor Hitoshi Moriyoshi for helpful advices and encouragements. He also wishes to thank Morimichi Kawasaki, Mitsuaki Kimura, Takahiro Matsushita, and Masato Mimura for many supports and useful discussions.

### CHAPTER 1

### Preliminaries

### 1.1. Quasimorphism

In this section, we review some besic notions about quasimorphisms. We refer to [Cal09] and [Fri17] for details.

DEFINITION 1.1. A real-valued function  $\mu$  on a group  $\Gamma$  is called a *quasimorphism* if

$$D(\mu) = \sup_{\gamma_1, \gamma_2 \in \Gamma} |\mu(\gamma_2) - \mu(\gamma_1\gamma_2) + \mu(\gamma_1)| < \infty$$

holds. The value  $D(\mu)$  is called the *defect of*  $\mu$ . A quasimorphism  $\mu$  is *homogeneous* if the equality  $\mu(\gamma^n) = n\mu(\gamma)$  holds for any  $\gamma \in \Gamma$  and  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Let  $Q(\Gamma)$  denote the  $\mathbb{R}$ -vector space consisting of all homogeneous quasimorphisms on  $\Gamma$ .

Note that a homomorphism is a homogeneous quasimorphism of defect zero. We call a quasimorphism *trivial* if it is a sum of a homomorphism and a bounded function. The following fact is well known.

PROPOSITION 1.2. If  $\Gamma$  is amenable, then any homogeneous quasimorphism on  $\Gamma$  is a homomorphism. In particular, any homogeneous quasimorphism on an abelian group is a homomorphism.

For a quasimorphism  $\mu \colon \Gamma \to \mathbb{R}$  and  $\gamma \in \Gamma$ , the limit

$$\overline{\mu} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\mu(\gamma^n)}{n}$$

always exists, and the difference  $\overline{\mu} - \mu$  is a bounded function on  $\Gamma$  (see [Cal09, LEMMA 2.21]). By definition, the function  $\overline{\mu} \colon \Gamma \to \mathbb{R}$  is a homogeneous quasimorphism. Namely, perturbing  $\mu$  by a bounded function, we can obtain a homogeneous quasimorphism  $\overline{\mu} \colon \Gamma \to \mathbb{R}$ . This  $\overline{\mu}$  is called the *homogenization* of  $\mu$ .

EXAMPLE 1.3. The floor function  $\lfloor \cdot \rfloor : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is a quasimorphism. Moreover, the homogenization  $\overline{\lfloor \cdot \rfloor} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is equal to the identity homomorphism on  $\mathbb{R}$ .

### 1. PRELIMINARIES

EXAMPLE 1.4 (Poincaré's translation number). Let  $\text{Homeo}_+(S^1)$  denote the group of orientation preserving homeomorphisms of the circle. Here we consider  $\text{Homeo}_+(S^1)$  as a topological group with the compact-open topology. The universal covering group  $\text{Homeo}_+(S^1)$  is identified with

$$\widetilde{\mathrm{Homeo}}_+(S^1) = \{ \gamma \in \mathrm{Homeo}(\mathbb{R}) \mid \gamma \boldsymbol{t} = \boldsymbol{t}\gamma \},\$$

where  $t: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is the translation by one, that is, t(x) = x + 1. Let us define a function  $\mu: Homeo_+(S^1) \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$\mu(\gamma) = \gamma(0).$$

Then it turns out that the map  $\mu$  is a quasimorphism on Homeo<sub>+</sub>(S<sup>1</sup>). The homogenization

$$\overline{\mu}(\gamma) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\gamma^n(0)}{n}$$

is called *Poincaré's translation number*. Note that Poincaré's translation number is not a homomorphism.

In considering homogeneous quasimorphisms on a group extension, we shall use the following left exactness theorem.

LEMMA 1.5 ([Cal09, Remark 2.90]). Let  $1 \to K \xrightarrow{i} \Gamma \xrightarrow{p} G \to 1$  be an exact sequence of groups, then the induced sequence of homogeneous quasimorphisms

$$0 \to Q(G) \xrightarrow{p^*} Q(\Gamma) \xrightarrow{i^*} Q(K)$$

is exact.

DEFINITION 1.6. Let K be a normal subgroup of a group  $\Gamma$ . An element  $\mu \in Q(K)$  is called  $\Gamma$ -invariant if the equality

$$\mu(\gamma^{-1}k\gamma) = \mu(k)$$

holds for any  $k \in K$  and  $\gamma \in \Gamma$ . Let  $Q(K)^{\Gamma}$  denote the  $\mathbb{R}$ -vector space of the  $\Gamma$ -invariant homogeneous quasimorphisms on K.

REMARK 1.7. The exact sequence in LEMMA 1.5 can be refined as

$$0 \to Q(G) \xrightarrow{p^*} Q(\Gamma) \xrightarrow{i^*} Q(K)^{\Gamma}$$

Indeed, any element  $\mu \in Q(\Gamma)$  is  $\Gamma$ -invariant, that is,  $\mu$  satisfies the equality

$$\mu(\gamma_1^{-1}\gamma_2\gamma_1) = \mu(\gamma_2)$$

for any  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2 \in \Gamma$  (see [Cal09, Section 2.2.3]). Thus the image of the map  $i^* \colon Q(\Gamma) \to Q(K)$  is contained in  $Q(K)^{\Gamma}$ .

The following property plays an essential role in Section 2.3.

PROPOSITION 1.8 ([**PR14**, Proposition 3.1.4]). For an element  $\mu \in Q(\Gamma)$  and for any elements  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2 \in \Gamma$  satisfying  $\gamma_1 \gamma_2 = \gamma_2 \gamma_1$ , the equality

$$\mu(\gamma_1\gamma_2) = \mu(\gamma_1) + \mu(\gamma_2)$$

holds.

### 1.2. Group cohomology and bounded cohomology

In this section, we recall the notion of (bounded) cohomology of discrete groups. We refer to [Bro82], [Cal09], and [Fri17] for details.

### 1.2.1. Group cohomology.

DEFINITION 1.9. Let G be a group and (M, +) be a left G-module. The set of all maps

$$C^{n}(G; M) = \{c \colon G^{n} \to M \colon \operatorname{map}\}$$

is called the group n-cochains of G with coefficients in M. For n > 0, the coboundary map  $\delta \colon C^n(G; M) \to C^{n+1}(G; M)$  is defined by

$$\delta c(g_1, \dots, g_{n+1}) = g_1 \cdot c(g_2, \dots, g_{n+1}) + \sum_{j=1}^n (-1)^j c(g_1, \dots, g_j g_{j+1}, \dots, g_{n+1}) + (-1)^{n+1} c(g_1, \dots, g_n)$$

and  $\delta: C^0(G; M) \to C^1(G; M)$  by  $\delta m(g) = g \cdot m - m$ , where we identify  $C^0(G; M)$  with M. The group cohomology  $H^{\bullet}(G; M)$  of G with coefficients in M is the cohomology of the cochain complex  $(C^{\bullet}(G; M), \delta)$ .

NOTATION 1. In this thesis, if the coefficients is the trivial G-module  $\mathbb{R}$ , we abbreviate  $H^{\bullet}(G; \mathbb{R})$  to  $H^{\bullet}(G)$ .

EXAMPLE 1.10. In this example, we consider the trivial G-module M. The 0-th cohomology  $H^0(G; M)$  is isomorphic to M since  $\delta = 0: C^0(G; M) \to C^1(G; M)$  and  $C^0(G; M) = M$ . The first cohomology  $H^1(G; M)$  is isomorphic to the homomorphisms Hom(G; M) from G to M since the coboundary  $\delta: C^1(G; M) \to C^2(G; M)$  is defined by

$$\delta c(g_1, g_2) = c(g_2) - c(g_1g_2) + c(g_1).$$

An exact sequence  $1 \to M \xrightarrow{i} E \to G \to 1$  of groups is called a *central M-extension of G* if the image i(M) is in the center of E. Two

central *M*-extensions  $E_1$  and  $E_2$  are *equivalent* if there is a commutative diagram



The following fact is well known, which gives a classification of the equivalence classes of central M-extensions.

PROPOSITION 1.11. Let M be a trivial G-module. The second group cohomology  $H^2(G; M)$  is bijective to the set of all equivalence classes of central M-extensions of G;

 $H^2(G; M) \cong \{ \text{central } M \text{-extensions of } G \} / \sim .$ 

For a central M-extension E of G, the corresponding cohomology class  $e(E) \in H^2(G; M)$  is defined as follows (see [**Bro82**] for details). Take a set-theoretical section  $s: G \to E$  of the projection  $E \to G$ . For any  $g_1, g_2 \in G$ , the value  $s(g_1)s(g_2)s(g_1g_2)^{-1}$  is in  $i(M) \cong M$ . Thus we obtain a cochain  $c \in C^2(G; M)$  by setting

(1.2.1) 
$$c(g_1, g_2) = s(g_1)s(g_2)s(g_1g_2)^{-1}.$$

It can be shown that the cochain c is a cocycle, and its cohomology class [c] does not depend on the choice of the section s. We set e(E) = [c]. This correspondence between a central M-extension E and the second cohomology class e(E) gives the bijection in PROPOSITION 1.11.

PROPOSITION 1.12. Let  $0 \to M \to E \to G \to 1$  be a central Mextension and e(E) the corresponding cohomology class in  $H^2(G; M)$ . Let H be a group and  $f: H \to G$  a homomorphism. The pullback  $f^*e(E)$  is equal to zero if and only if the homomorphism has a lift, that is, there exists a homomorphism  $\tilde{f}: H \to E$  such that the diagram



commutes.

The proof of the following lemma is straightforward.

LEMMA 1.13. For a commutative diagram



of central extensions, the cohomology class  $f_*e(E_1) \in H^2(G; M_2)$  is equal to  $e(E_2)$ , where  $f_* \colon H^2(G; M_1) \to H^2(G; M_2)$  is the change of coefficients homomorphism.

It is known that the group cohomology  $H^{\bullet}(G; M)$  is canonically isomorphic to the cohomology  $H^{\bullet}_{top}(BG^{\delta}; M)$  of the classifying space of the discrete group  $G^{\delta}$ . Here  $G^{\delta}$  denotes the group G with the discrete topology and  $H^{\bullet}_{top}(-; M)$  the cohomology of topological space with coefficients in M. By this isomorphism, a group cohomology class gives a characteristic class of foliated bundles, and vice versa.

EXAMPLE 1.14. In this example, we only consider the case when the coefficients is the trivial module  $\mathbb{R}$  (see also NOTATION 1). The above isomorphism  $H^{\bullet}(G) \cong H^{\bullet}_{top}(BG^{\delta})$  allows us to calculate the cohomology of some groups.

(1) The classifying space  $B(\mathbb{Z}^n)$  is the *n*-dimensional torus  $(S^1)^n$ . Thus the group cohomology  $H^{\bullet}(\mathbb{Z}^n)$  is isomorphic to the cohomology  $H_{\text{top}}((S^1)^n)$ . In particular, we have

$$H^1(\mathbb{Z}^n) \cong \mathbb{R}^n, \quad H^2(\mathbb{Z}^n) \cong \mathbb{R}^{n(n-1)/2}.$$

(2) The classifying space  $BF_n$  of the rank *n* free group is the bouquet  $\bigvee_n S^1$ . Thus the group cohomology  $H^{\bullet}(F_n)$  is isomorphic to  $H_{\text{top}}(\bigvee_n S^1)$ . In particular, we have

$$H^1(F_n) = \mathbb{R}^n, \quad H^2(F_n) = 0.$$

(3) Let  $\Sigma_g$  be a closed oriented surface of genus g > 0 and  $\Gamma_g = \pi_1(\Sigma_g)$  the surface group. Then the classifying space  $B\Gamma_g$  is homotopy equivalent to  $\Sigma_g$ . Thus the cohomology  $H^{\bullet}(\Gamma_g)$  is isomorphic to  $H^{\bullet}_{\text{top}}(\Sigma)$ . In particular, we have

$$H^1(\Gamma_q) \cong \mathbb{R}^{2g}, \quad H^2(\Gamma_q) \cong \mathbb{R}.$$

(4) Let X be a closed connected manifold. Let  $\operatorname{Homeo}_0(X)$  be the identity component of the group of homeomorphisms of X with the compact-open topology, and  $\operatorname{Homeo}_0(X)^{\delta}$  denotes the same group with the discrete topology. The identity homomorphism  $\iota$ :  $\operatorname{Homeo}_0(X)^{\delta} \to \operatorname{Homeo}_0(X)$  induces a continuous map

$$B\iota \colon B\operatorname{Homeo}_0(X)^{\delta} \to B\operatorname{Homeo}_0(X).$$

By the theorem of Thurston [**Thu74**], the map  $B\iota$  induces an isomorphism of cohomology.Let us consider the case when X is the circle  $S^1$ . Then the group Homeo<sub>0</sub>( $S^1$ ) coincides with

### 1. PRELIMINARIES

the group  $\text{Homeo}_+(S^1)$  of orientation preserving homeomorphisms. By the fact that the group  $\text{Homeo}_+(S^1)$  is homotopy equivalent to  $S^1$ , we have

 $H^{\bullet}(\operatorname{Homeo}_{+}(S^{1});\mathbb{Z}) \cong H^{\bullet}_{\operatorname{top}}(BS^{1};\mathbb{Z}) = \mathbb{Z}[e],$ where the class  $e \in H^{2}_{\operatorname{top}}(BS^{1};\mathbb{Z}) = H^{2}_{\operatorname{top}}(\mathbb{C}P^{\infty};\mathbb{Z})$  is the Euler

class.

For a group extension, there is a spectral sequence called the *Hochschild-Serre spectral sequence* (for simplicity, we only states the  $\mathbb{R}$ -coefficients case).

THEOREM 1.15 ([**HS53**]). For a group extension  $1 \to K \to \Gamma \to G \to 1$ , there exists a first quadrant spectral sequence  $(E_r^{p,q}, d_r^{p,q})$  with  $E_2^{p,q} \cong H^p(G; H^q(K))$  which converges to  $H^{p+q}(\Gamma)$ 

Here the G-action on  $H^q(K)$  is defined as follows. The group  $\Gamma$  acts on  $C^q(K)$  by

(1.2.2) 
$$({}^{\gamma}c)(k_1,\ldots,k_q) = c(\gamma^{-1}k_1\gamma,\ldots,\gamma^{-1}k_q\gamma).$$

This action induces a  $\Gamma$ -action on the cohomology  $H^q(K)$ . It is known that the action restricted to K is trivial, and therefore the action induces the G-action on  $H^q(K)$ . In this way, the cohomology  $H^q(K)$ is considered as a left G-module. Let  $H^q(K)^G$  denote the G-invariant part of  $H^q(K)$ . Then, in particular, any element f of  $H^1(K)^G$  satisfies the equality

(1.2.3) 
$$f(\gamma^{-1}k\gamma) = f(k)$$

for any  $\gamma \in \Gamma$  and  $k \in K$ . Thus the space  $H^1(K)^G$  is identified with the space of all  $\Gamma$ -invariant homomorphisms from K to  $\mathbb{R}$ .

REMARK 1.16. Under the canonical isomorphism between  $H^{\bullet}(G)$ and  $H^{\bullet}_{top}(BG^{\delta})$ , the Hochschild-Serre spectral sequence of a group extension

$$1 \to K \to \Gamma \to G \to 1$$

is isomorphic to the Serre spectral sequence of the fibration

$$BK^{\delta} \to B\Gamma^{\delta} \to BG^{\delta}$$

of the classifying spaces.

For a first quadrant spectral sequence  $(E_r^{p,q}, d_r^{p,q})$ , we obtain the following exact sequence called the *seven-term exact sequence*:

$$0 \to E_2^{1,0} \to E_\infty^1 \to E_2^{0,1} \xrightarrow{d_2^{0,1}} E_2^{2,0}$$
$$\to \operatorname{Ker}(E_\infty^2 \to E_2^{0,2}) \to E_2^{1,1} \to E_2^{3,0}$$

By applying this to the Hochschild-Serre spectral sequence, we obtain the following.

THEOREM 1.17 (Seven-term exact sequence of group cohomology). For a group extension  $1 \to K \xrightarrow{i} \Gamma \xrightarrow{p} G \to 1$ , there is an exact sequence

(1.2.4) 
$$0 \to H^1(G) \to H^1(\Gamma) \to H^1(K)^G \xrightarrow{\tau} H^2(G)$$
$$\to \operatorname{Ker}(i^*) \xrightarrow{\zeta} H^1(G; H^1(K)) \to H^3(G),$$

where  $i^* \colon H^2(\Gamma) \to H^2(K)$ .

REMARK 1.18. By the definition of the *G*-action on  $H^q(K)$ , the *G*-invariant part  $H^q(K)^G$  is the same as the  $\Gamma$ -invariant part  $H^q(K)^{\Gamma}$ . In our setting in Chapter 3, it is more convenient to consider the *G*-invariant part  $H^1(K)^G$  in (1.2.4) as the  $\Gamma$ -invariant part  $H^1(K)^{\Gamma}$ .

REMARK 1.19. Other coefficients versions of the exact sequence (1.2.4) also hold. For example, there is an exact sequence

$$(1.2.5) \quad 0 \to H^1(G;\mathbb{Z}) \to H^1(\Gamma;\mathbb{Z}) \to H^1(K;\mathbb{Z})^G \xrightarrow{\tau} H^2(G;\mathbb{Z})$$
$$\to \operatorname{Ker}(i^*) \xrightarrow{\zeta} H^1(G;H^1(K;\mathbb{Z})) \to H^3(G;\mathbb{Z}),$$

where  $i^* \colon H^2(\Gamma; \mathbb{Z}) \to H^2(K; \mathbb{Z}).$ 

The explicit descriptions of the maps  $\tau$  and  $\zeta$  are known.

PROPOSITION 1.20 ([**NSW08**, (1.6.6) Proposition and (2.4.3) Theorem]). For any *G*-invariant homomorphism  $f \in H^1(K)^G$ , there exists a one-cochain  $F: \Gamma \to \mathbb{R}$  such that  $i^*F = f$  and that  $\delta F(\gamma_1, \gamma_2)$  depends only on  $p(\gamma_1)$  and  $p(\gamma_2)$ , that is, there exists a cocycle  $c \in C^2(G)$ satisfying

$$c(p(\gamma_1), p(\gamma_2)) = \delta F(\gamma_1, \gamma_2)$$

for any  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2 \in \Gamma$ . For such a cochain F, the equality

$$\tau(f) = [c] \in H^2(G)$$

holds.

PROPOSITION 1.21 (Section 10.3 of **[DHW12]**). For an element  $c \in \text{Ker}(i^* \colon H^2(\Gamma) \to H^2(K))$ , take a representing two-cocycle  $f \in C^2(\Gamma)$  satisfying  $f|_{K \times K} = 0$ . Then

$$(\zeta(c)(p(\gamma)))(k) = f(\gamma, \gamma^{-1}k\gamma) - f(k, \gamma).$$

**1.2.2. Bounded cohomology.** In this subsection, we assume that M is either the trivial G-module  $\mathbb{Z}$  or  $\mathbb{R}$ .

DEFINITION 1.22. Let  $(C_b^{\bullet}(G; M), \delta)$  be the subcomplex consisting of all bounded functions. The cohomology  $H_b^{\bullet}(G; M)$  of the subcomplex  $(C_b^{\bullet}(G; M), \delta)$  is called the *bounded cohomology of G with coefficients* in M. The inclusion  $C_b^{\bullet}(G; M) \hookrightarrow C^{\bullet}(G; M)$  induces the map

$$c_G \colon H^{\bullet}_b(G; M) \to H^{\bullet}(G; M)$$

called the *comparison map*. The kernel of  $c_G$  is called the *exact bounded* cohomology and denoted by  $EH_b^{\bullet}(G; M)$ .

NOTATION 2. As NOTATION 1, we abbreviate  $H_b^{\bullet}(G; \mathbb{R})$  to  $H_b^{\bullet}(G)$ and  $EH_b^2(G; \mathbb{R})$  to  $EH_b^2(G)$ .

EXAMPLE 1.23. The 0-th bounded cohomology  $H^0_b(G; M)$  is isomorphic to M by definition. The first cohomology  $H^1_b(G; M)$  is trivial since any bounded homomorphism to M is trivial.

For the triviality of bounded cohomology, the following is known.

PROPOSITION 1.24. If G is abelian, the bounded cohomology  $H_b^n(G)$  is trivial for n > 0.

EXAMPLE 1.25. By PROPOSITION 1.24, the second real bounded cohomology  $H_b^2(\mathbb{Z})$  is trivial. In contrast, the second integral bounded cohomology  $H_b^2(\mathbb{Z};\mathbb{Z})$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$  since there is an exact sequence

$$\to H^1_b(\mathbb{Z}) = 0 \to H^1(\mathbb{Z}; \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}) \to H^2_b(\mathbb{Z}; \mathbb{Z}) \to H^2_b(\mathbb{Z}) = 0 \to$$
and  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}; \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}) \cong H^1_{\text{ton}}(S^1; \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}.$ 

For  $\mu \in Q(G)$ , the coboundary  $\delta \mu$  is a bounded two-cocycle in  $C_b^2(G)$  by the definition of quasimorphism. Note that the bounded cocycle  $\delta \mu$  is not necessarily a coboundary as a bounded cochain since the homogeneous quasimorphism is not bounded if  $\mu \neq 0$ . The following fact is well known.

**PROPOSITION 1.26.** The following sequence is exact:

$$(1.2.6) 0 \to H^1(G) \to Q(G) \xrightarrow{\mathfrak{o}_*} H^2_b(G) \xrightarrow{\mathfrak{c}_G} H^2(G),$$

where the map  $\delta_*$  is given by  $\delta_*(\mu) = [\delta\mu]$ .

REMARK 1.27. The exact sequence (1.2.6) is equivalent to the following exact sequence:

(1.2.7) 
$$0 \to H^1(G) \to Q(G) \to EH^2_b(G) \to 0.$$

EXAMPLE 1.28. By the exact sequence (1.2.6), we can show that the second bounded cohomology is infinite dimensional for some groups.

- (1) For the free group  $F_2$ , Brooks [**Bro81**] constructed infinitely many homogeneous quasimorphisms on  $F_2$ .
- (2) Let X be a closed hyperbolic manifold and  $\pi_1(X)$  the fundamental group. In **[EF97]**, Epstein and Fujiwara constructed infinitely many homogeneous quasimorphisms on  $\pi_1(X)$  (more generally, on the word-hyperbolic groups).

By using the above homogeneous quasimorphisms, it was shown that the dimension of  $H_b^2(G)$  is the cardinal of continuum (in [Mit84] for  $G = F_2$  and in [EF97] for  $G = \pi_1(X)$ ). This implies that the bounded cohomology and the ordinary group cohomology are quite different.

THEOREM 1.29 ([**Bou95**]). For a group extension  $1 \to K \to \Gamma \to G \to 1$ , there is an exact sequence

$$0 \to H^2_b(G) \to H^2_b(\Gamma) \to H^2_b(K)^{\Gamma} \to H^3_b(G).$$

Here the  $\Gamma$ -action on  $H_b^{\bullet}(K)$  is defined in the same way as in (1.2.2).

### 1.3. Characteristic classes

In this section, we recall the notion of characteristic class of fiber bundles.

DEFINITION 1.30. Let G be a topological group. A fiber bundle is called a G-bundle if the structure group of the bundle has a reduction to G. A *foliated* G-bundle is a fiber bundle whose structure group has a reduction to the discrete group  $G^{\delta}$ .

Let BG be the classifying space of G. We can regard a cohomology class of BG as a characteristic class of G-bundles by the following theorem.

THEOREM 1.31. There is a bijective correspondence between characteristic classes of G-bundles and cohomology classes of BG.

The identity homomorphism  $\iota: G^{\delta} \to G$  induces the continuous map  $B\iota: BG^{\delta} \to BG$  and therefore the homomorphism

$$(B\iota)^* \colon H^{\bullet}_{\mathrm{top}}(BG; M) \to H^{\bullet}_{\mathrm{top}}(BG^{\circ}; M) \cong H^{\bullet}(G; M),$$

where M is a trivial G-module.

DEFINITION 1.32. An element  $a \in H^{\bullet}(G; M)$  is called a *character*istic class of foliated G-bundles if  $a \in \text{Im}(B\iota)^*$ .

### 1. PRELIMINARIES

There is a well-known characteristic class called the *primary ob*struction class, which is defined as an obstruction to the construction of a cross-section. We briefly recall the definition of the obstruction class of fibrations via the Serre spectral sequence (see [Whi78] for details). Let  $F \to E \to B$  be a fibration, and for simplicity, we assume that the base space B is one-connected, the fiber F is path-connected, and the fundamental group  $\pi_1(F)$  is abelian. Let  $(E_r^{p,q}, d_r^{p,q})$  be the Serre spectral sequence with coefficients in  $\pi_1(F)$ . Since B is one-connected, any local coefficient system is simple, and thus we have

$$E_2^{p,q} \cong H^p_{\operatorname{top}}(B; H^q_{\operatorname{top}}(F; \pi_1(F))).$$

Therefore we have

$$E_2^{2,0} \cong H^2_{\text{top}}(B; \pi_1(F))$$

and

$$E_2^{0,1} \cong H^1_{\text{top}}(F; \pi_1(F)).$$

Note that the cohomology  $H^1_{top}(F; \pi_1(F))$  is isomorphic to the space of all self-homomorphisms  $\operatorname{Hom}(\pi_1(F), \pi_1(F))$  on  $\pi_1(F)$ . Then the derivation map  $d_2^{0,1}: E_2^{0,1} \to E_2^{2,0}$  gives a map

$$d_2^{0,1}$$
: Hom $(\pi_1(F), \pi_1(F)) \to H^2_{top}(B; \pi_1(F))$ 

(here we abuse the symbol  $d_2^{0,1}$ ).

We are now ready to define the primary obstruction class of fibrations.

DEFINITION 1.33. Let  $F \to E \to B$  be a fibration such that B is one-connected, F is path-connected, and  $\pi_1(F)$  is abelian. Let  $(E_r^{p,q}, d_r^{p,q})$  be the Serre spectral sequence. The cohomology class

$$\mathfrak{o} = -d_2^{0,1}(\mathrm{id}_{\pi_1(F)}) \in H^2_{\mathrm{top}}(B;\pi_1(F))$$

is called the *primary obstruction class*.

REMARK 1.34. It is known that the above definition is equivalent to the classical definition of the obstruction to the construction of a cross-section (see, for example, [Whi78, (6.10) Corollary and (7.9<sup>\*</sup>) Theorem]).

REMARK 1.35. Let G be a connected topological group and  $\tilde{G}$  the universal covering group. By THEOREM 1.31, the primary obstruction class of G-bundles defines a cohomology class  $\mathfrak{o}$  in  $H^2(BG; \pi_1(G))$ . This class is also obtained as follows. By taking classifying spaces of the central extension

$$0 \to \pi_1(G) \to \widetilde{G} \to G \to 1,$$

we obtain the following fibration

$$(1.3.1) B\pi_1(G) \to B\widetilde{G} \to BG.$$

Since we are assuming that G is connected, the base space BG is oneconnected. Note that the fundamental group of  $B\pi_1(G)$  is isomorphic to  $\pi_1(G)$  and this is abelian. Then the primary obstruction class of the fibration (1.3.1) is the class  $\mathfrak{o} \in H^2(BG; \pi_1(G))$ .

Let  $f: \pi_1(G) \to \mathbb{R}$  be a homomorphism and

$$f_* \colon H^{\bullet}_{\operatorname{top}}(-; \pi_1(G)) \to H^{\bullet}_{\operatorname{top}}(-)$$

the change of coefficients map. Let  $(E_r^{p,q}, d_r^{p,q})$  be the Serre spectral sequence of (1.3.1) with coefficients in  $\mathbb{R}$ . Since  $E_2^{0,1} \cong H^1_{\text{top}}(B\pi_1(G)) \cong \text{Hom}(\pi_1(G))$  and  $E_2^{2,0} \cong H^2_{\text{top}}(BG)$ , the derivation  $d_2^{0,1} \colon E_2^{0,1} \to E_2^{2,0}$  defines a homomorphism

$$d_2^{0,1}$$
: Hom $(\pi_1(G), \mathbb{R}) \to H^2_{\text{top}}(BG).$ 

PROPOSITION 1.36. Let  $(E_r^{p,q}, d_r^{p,q})$  be the Serre spectral sequence of (1.3.1) with coefficients in  $\mathbb{R}$ . For a homomorphism  $f: \pi_1(G) \to \mathbb{R}$ , an equality

$$-d_2^{0,1}(f) = f_* \mathfrak{o} \in H^2_{\mathrm{top}}(BG)$$

holds.

PROOF. Let  $(E'_r{}^{p,q}, d'_r{}^{p,q})$  be the Serre spectral sequence of (1.3.1) with coefficients in  $\pi_1(G)$ , then the equality  $-d'_2{}^{0,1}(\mathrm{id}_{\pi_1(G)}) = \mathfrak{o}$  holds. Since the derivation maps in the Serre spectral sequence are compatible with the change of coefficients homomorphisms, we have the following commutative diagram

Since  $f = f_*(id_{\pi_1(G)}) \in Hom(\pi_1(G), \mathbb{R})$ , we obtain

$$-d_2^{0,1}(f) = -d_2^{0,1}(f_*(\mathrm{id}_{\pi_1(G)})) = f_*(-d_2'^{0,1}(\mathrm{id}_{\pi_1(G)})) = f_*\mathfrak{o}$$

and the proposition follows.

#### 1. PRELIMINARIES

### **1.4.** Transformation groups

For a smooth manifold X, let Homeo(X) denote the group of homeomorphisms of X with the compact-open topology and Diff(X) the group of diffeomorphisms of X with the  $C^{\infty}$ -topology. Let  $\text{Homeo}_0(X)$ and  $\text{Diff}_0(X)$  be the identity component of Homeo(X) and Diff(X), respectively.

A symplectic manifold is a pair  $(X, \omega)$  of a smooth manifold X and a non-degenerate closed two-form  $\omega \in \Omega^2(X)$  (called a symplectic form).

DEFINITION 1.37. Let  $(X, \omega)$  be a symplectic manifold. A diffeomorphism  $g: X \to X$  is called a *symplectomorphism* if  $g^*\omega = \omega$  holds. The group

$$Symp(X,\omega) = \{g \in Diff(X) \mid g^*\omega = \omega\}$$

is called the *symplectomorphism group*.

REMARK 1.38. On a symplectic manifold, there is another natural transformation group  $\operatorname{Ham}(X, \omega)$  called the *Hamiltonian diffeo*morphism group (see [Ban97], [MS98] for the definition). The Hamiltonian diffeomorphism group is a normal subgroup of  $\operatorname{Symp}(M, \omega)$ .

THEOREM 1.39 ([**Ban78**]). For a closed symplectic manifold  $(X, \omega)$ , the Hamiltonian diffeomorphism group  $\operatorname{Ham}(X, \omega)$  and its universal covering group  $\widetilde{\operatorname{Ham}}(X, \omega)$  are perfect.

REMARK 1.40. It is known that the Hamiltonian diffeomorphism group  $\operatorname{Ham}(X, \omega)$  coincides with  $\operatorname{Symp}_0(X, \omega)$  for a closed symplectic manifold  $(X, \omega)$  whose first Betti number is equal to zero (see, for example, [**Ban97**]). Thus, for such a symplectic manifold, the groups  $\operatorname{Symp}_0(X, \omega)$  and  $\operatorname{Symp}_0(X, \omega)$  are perfect.

In Section 2.4, we will consider the following symplectic manifold. On the direct product  $S^2 \times S^2$ , there is a symplectic form  $\omega_{\lambda}$  defined by

$$\omega_{\lambda} = \mathrm{pr}_{1}^{*}\omega_{0} + \lambda \cdot \mathrm{pr}_{2}^{*}\omega_{0},$$

where  $\omega_0$  is the standard symplectic form on  $S^2$ ,  $\lambda$  a non-zero real number, and  $\operatorname{pr}_1, \operatorname{pr}_2: S^2 \times S^2 \to S^2$  are the first and second projection, respectively. Gromov showed in [**Gro85**] that the symplectomorphism group  $\operatorname{Symp}_0(S^2 \times S^2, \omega_1)$  is homotopy equivalent to the group  $SO(3) \times$ SO(3). If  $1 < \lambda \leq 2$ , the homotopy type of  $\operatorname{Symp}_0(S^2 \times S^2, \omega_\lambda)$  is determined in [**Anj02**].

THEOREM 1.41 ([Anj02]). If  $1 < \lambda \leq 2$ , the symplectomorphism group  $\operatorname{Symp}_0(S^2 \times S^2, \omega_{\lambda})$  is homotopy equivalent to the space

$$\Omega(\Sigma(S^1 \lor SO(3))) \times S^1 \times SO(3) \times SO(3),$$

where the space  $\Omega(\Sigma(S^1 \vee SO(3)))$  is the loop space of the suspension of the smash product  $S^1 \vee SO(3)$ .

REMARK 1.42. For  $1 < \lambda \leq 2$ , the fundamental group  $\pi_1(\text{Symp}_0(S^2 \times S^2, \omega_{\lambda}))$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ . Indeed, by THEOREM 1.41, the fundamental group is isomorphic to

$$\pi_1(\Omega(\Sigma(S^1 \lor SO(3)))) \times \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})$$
$$\cong \pi_2(\Sigma(S^1 \lor SO(3))) \times \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}.$$

Since the smash product of connected spaces is one-connected, so is the space  $S^1 \vee SO(3)$ . Together with the Freudenthal suspension theorem, we have

$$\pi_2(\Sigma(S^1 \lor SO(3))) \cong \pi_1(S^1 \lor SO(3)) = 0.$$

A contact manifold is a pair  $(X,\xi)$  of a (2n+1)-dimensional smooth manifold X and a maximally non-integrable hyperplane field  $\xi \subset TX$ , that is, a defining local one-form  $\alpha$  gives a local volume form  $\alpha \wedge (d\alpha)^n$ . The globally defined one-form  $\alpha$  is called a *contact form*.

DEFINITION 1.43. For a contact manifold  $(X,\xi)$ , a diffeomorphism  $g: X \to X$  is called a *contactomorphism* if g preserves the contact structure, that is,  $g_*\xi = \xi$  holds. Let  $\operatorname{Cont}(X,\xi)$  denote the group of contactomorphisms.

THEOREM 1.44 ([**Ryb10**]). For a closed contact manifold  $(X, \xi)$ , the group  $\operatorname{Cont}_0(X, \xi)$  and its universal covering group  $\widetilde{\operatorname{Cont}}_0(X, \xi)$  are perfect.

### CHAPTER 2

### Non-descendible homogeneous quasimorphisms

This chapter is a part of the joint work with Kawasaki [KM20]. Let  $\Gamma$  and G be groups and  $p: \Gamma \to G$  a surjective homomorphism. In this section, we consider the homogeneous quasimorphisms on  $\Gamma$  which do not descend to G. To do this, we introduce the following space:

DEFINITION 2.1. For groups  $\Gamma, G$  and a surjective homomorphism  $p \colon \Gamma \to G$ , set

$$\mathcal{ND} = Q(\Gamma) / (p^*Q(G) + H^1(\Gamma)).$$

In this chapter, we discuss the space  $\mathcal{ND}$  and apply it to characteristic classes of foliated bundles.

### 2.1. General principle

DEFINITION 2.2. A subspace  $\mathcal{C}(\Gamma)$  of  $C^1(\Gamma)$  is defined by

$$\mathcal{C}(\Gamma) = \{F \in C^{1}(\Gamma) \\ (2.1.1) \quad | F(k\gamma) = F(\gamma k) = F(\gamma) + F(k) \text{ for any } \gamma \in \Gamma, k \in K \}.$$

We define a map  $\mathfrak{D} \colon \mathcal{C}(\Gamma) \to C^2(G)$  by setting

$$\mathfrak{D}(F)(g_1, g_2) = F(\gamma_2) - F(\gamma_1 \gamma_2) + F(\gamma_1),$$

where  $\gamma_j$  is an element of  $\Gamma$  satisfying  $p(\gamma_j) = g_j$ .

LEMMA 2.3 ([**KM20**]). The map  $\mathfrak{D} : \mathcal{C}(\Gamma) \to C^2(G)$  is well defined.

PROOF. Let  $\gamma'_j$  be another element of  $\Gamma$  satisfying  $p(\gamma'_j) = g_j$ . Then there exist elements  $k_1, k_2 \in K$  satisfying  $\gamma'_1 = k_1\gamma_1$  and  $\gamma'_2 = \gamma_2k_2$ . Then, by the definition of  $\mathcal{C}(\Gamma)$ , we have

$$F(\gamma'_{2}) - F(\gamma'_{1}\gamma'_{2}) + F(\gamma'_{1})$$
  
=  $F(\gamma_{2}k_{2}) - F(k_{1}\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}k_{2}) + F(k_{1}\gamma_{1})$   
=  $(F(\gamma_{2}) + F(k_{2})) - (F(k_{1}) + F(\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}) + F(k_{2})) + (F(k_{1}) + F(\gamma_{1}))$   
=  $F(\gamma_{2}) - F(\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}) + F(\gamma_{1}).$ 

This implies the well-definedness of the map  $\mathfrak{D}$ .

LEMMA 2.4 ([**KM20**]). For any  $F \in \mathcal{C}(\Gamma)$ , the cochain  $\mathfrak{D}(F)$  is a cocycle.

PROOF. Since  $p^*\mathfrak{D}(F) = \delta F$ , we have

28

$$p^*(\delta\mathfrak{D}(F)) = \delta\delta F = 0.$$

By the surjectivity of  $p: \Gamma \to G$ , we have  $\delta \mathfrak{D}(F) = 0$ .

DEFINITION 2.5. A homomorphism  $\mathfrak{d} \colon \mathcal{C}(\Gamma) \to H^2(G)$  is defined by

$$\mathfrak{d}(F) = [\mathfrak{D}(F)] \in H^2(G).$$

In the seven-term exact sequence (1.2.4), there is a map

$$\tau \colon H^1(K)^{\Gamma} \to H^2(G)$$

(see THEOREM 1.17 and PROPOSITION 1.20). Recall that an element f of  $H^1(K)^G$  is a G-invariant homomorphism, that is, f satisfies  $f(\gamma^{-1}k\gamma) = f(k)$  for any  $k \in K$  and  $\gamma \in \Gamma$ . The homomorphism **\mathfrak{d}** defined in Definition 2.5 is related to the map  $\tau$  as the following commutative diagram (PROPOSITION 2.7)



For an element F of  $\mathcal{C}(\Gamma)$ , the restriction  $F|_K = i^*F$  is in  $H^1(K)^G$ since we have

$$F(k) = F(k\gamma) - F(\gamma) = F(\gamma \cdot \gamma^{-1}k\gamma) - F(\gamma) = F(\gamma^{-1}k\gamma).$$

Thus we obtain a homomorphism  $i^* \colon \mathcal{C}(\Gamma) \to H^1(K)^G$ .

LEMMA 2.6 ([**KM20**]). The map  $i^* \colon \mathcal{C}(\Gamma) \to H^1(K)^G$  is surjective.

PROOF. Let  $s: G \to \Gamma$  be a section of  $p: \Gamma \to G$  satisfying  $s(\mathrm{id}_G) = \mathrm{id}_{\Gamma}$ , where  $\mathrm{id}_G \in G$  and  $\mathrm{id}_{\Gamma} \in \Gamma$  be the unit elements of G and  $\Gamma$ , respectively. Then, since an element  $\gamma \cdot s(p(\gamma))^{-1}$  is in  $\mathrm{Ker}(p: \Gamma \to G)$ , we regard the element  $\gamma \cdot s(p(\gamma))^{-1}$  as that of K under the injection  $i: K \to \Gamma$ . For an element f of  $H^1(K)^G$ , define  $f_s: \Gamma \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$f_s(\gamma) = f(\gamma \cdot s(p(\gamma))^{-1}).$$

Note that the restriction of  $f_s$  to K is equal to f. Moreover, the equalities

$$f_s(k\gamma) = f(k\gamma \cdot s(p(k\gamma))^{-1}) = f(k\gamma \cdot s(p(\gamma))^{-1})$$
$$= f(k) + f(\gamma \cdot s(p(\gamma))^{-1}) = f_s(k) + f_s(\gamma)$$

and

$$f_s(\gamma k) = f(\gamma k \cdot s(p(\gamma k))^{-1}) = f(\gamma k \cdot s(p(\gamma))^{-1})$$
$$= f(\gamma k \gamma^{-1}) + f(\gamma \cdot s(p(\gamma))^{-1})$$
$$= f(k) + f(\gamma \cdot s(p(\gamma))^{-1}) = f_s(k) + f_s(\gamma)$$

hold, where we use the *G*-invariance of f. Thus the map  $f_s$  is an element of  $\mathcal{C}(\Gamma)$  and the surjectivity follows.

PROPOSITION 2.7 ([KM20]). The diagram



commutes.

PROOF. By DEFINITION 2.5 and PROPOSITION 1.20, we obtain the proposition.  $\hfill \Box$ 

### 2.2. A diagram via bounded cohomology and quasimorphism

In this section, we refine the commutative diagram in PROPOSITION 2.7 in view of bounded cohomology and homogeneous quasimorphisms. A cohomology class  $a \in H^2(G)$  is called *bounded* if a is in the image of the comparison map  $c_G : H^2_b(G) \to H^2(G)$ .

PROPOSITION 2.8 ([KM20]). There is a commutative diagram



PROOF. For an element  $F \in \mathcal{C}(\Gamma) \cap Q(\Gamma)$ , the cocycle  $\mathfrak{D}(F) \in C^2(G)$  is bounded since

$$\mathfrak{D}(F)(g_1, g_2) = F(\gamma_2) - F(\gamma_1 \gamma_2) + F(\gamma_1)$$

for any  $g_1, g_2 \in G$  and F is a quasimorphism. Thus  $\mathfrak{D} : \mathcal{C}(\Gamma) \to C^2(G)$ induces a homomorphism

$$\mathfrak{d}_b \colon \mathcal{C}(\Gamma) \to H^2_b(G)$$
  
satisfying  $\mathfrak{d} = c_G \circ \mathfrak{d}_b \colon \mathcal{C}(\Gamma) \cap Q(\Gamma) \to H^2(G).$ 

REMARK 2.9. For a central extension

$$0 \to A \xrightarrow{i} \Gamma \xrightarrow{p} G \to 1,$$

the space  $Q(\Gamma)$  is contained in  $\mathcal{C}(\Gamma)$ . Indeed, by the definition of central extension, elements  $a \in A$  and  $\gamma \in \Gamma$  satisfy  $a\gamma = \gamma a$ . Thus, by PROPOSITION 1.8, any homogeneous quasimorphism  $\mu \in Q(\Gamma)$  satisfies

$$\mu(a\gamma) = \mu(\gamma a) = \mu(a) + \mu(\gamma)$$

This implies  $Q(\Gamma) \subset \mathcal{C}(\Gamma)$ . Moreover, any homomorphism  $f: A \to \mathbb{R}$  is *G*-invariant since  $\gamma^{-1}a\gamma = a\gamma^{-1}\gamma = a$  for any  $\gamma \in \Gamma$  and  $a \in A$ . Thus, together with PROPOSITION 2.8, we obtain a commutative diagram



REMARK 2.10. In this remark, we temporary use the symbol  $Q'(\Gamma)$  to denote the set of all (not necessarily homogeneous) quasimorphisms. If we use  $Q'(\Gamma)$  rather than  $Q(\Gamma)$ , the same statement as PROPOSITION 2.8 also holds.

LEMMA 2.11. If the pullback  $i^*\mu$  of a homogeneous quasimorphism  $\mu \in Q(\Gamma)$  is a homomorphism on K, then  $\mu$  is contained in  $\mathcal{C}(\Gamma)$ .

PROOF. For any  $\gamma \in \Gamma$ ,  $k \in K$ , and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , the equalities

$$(k\gamma)^n = k \cdot \gamma k\gamma^{-1} \cdot \gamma^2 k\gamma^{-2} \cdot \dots \cdot \gamma^{n-1} k\gamma^{-(n-1)} \cdot \gamma^n$$

and

$$(\gamma k)^n = \gamma^n \cdot \gamma^{-(n-1)} k \gamma^{n-1} \cdot \dots \cdot \gamma^{-2} k \gamma^2 \cdot \gamma^{-1} k \gamma \cdot k$$

hold. Since the pullback  $i^*\mu$  is  $\Gamma$ -invariant homomorphism, we have

$$\mu(k \cdot \gamma k \gamma^{-1} \cdot \gamma^2 k \gamma^{-2} \cdot \dots \cdot \gamma^{n-1} k \gamma^{-(n-1)}) = \mu(k^n)$$

and

$$\mu(\gamma^{-(n-1)}k\gamma^{n-1}\cdot\cdots\cdot\gamma^{-2}k\gamma^{2}\cdot\gamma^{-1}k\gamma\cdot k)=\mu(k^{n}).$$

Thus we obtain

$$n \cdot |\mu(k\gamma) - \mu(k) - \mu(\gamma)| = |\mu((k\gamma)^n) - \mu(k^n) - \mu(\gamma^n)| \le D(\mu)$$

and

$$n \cdot |\mu(\gamma k) - \mu(\gamma) - \mu(k)| = |\mu((\gamma k)^n) - \mu(\gamma^n) - \mu(k^n)| \le D(\mu)$$

and these imply the equalities  $\mu(k\gamma) = \mu(k) + \mu(\gamma)$  and  $\mu(\gamma k) = \mu(\gamma) + \mu(k)$ .

THEOREM 2.12 ([**KM20**]). For a group extension  $\Gamma$  of G, the homomorphism  $\mathfrak{d} \colon \mathcal{C}(\Gamma) \to H^2(G)$  induces an isomorphism

 $(\mathcal{C}(\Gamma) \cap Q(\Gamma))/(H^1(\Gamma) + p^*Q(G)) \to \operatorname{Im}(\tau) \cap \operatorname{Im}(c_G).$ 

PROOF. Let us consider the following commutative diagram whose rows and columns are exact:

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^{1}(K)^{\Gamma} \longrightarrow Q(K)^{\Gamma} \longrightarrow H^{2}_{b}(K)^{\Gamma} \\ \uparrow & \uparrow & \uparrow \\ H^{1}(\Gamma) \longrightarrow Q(\Gamma) \xrightarrow{\delta_{*}} H^{2}_{b}(\Gamma) \longrightarrow H^{2}(\Gamma) \\ \uparrow & p^{*} \uparrow & p^{*} \uparrow & p^{*} \uparrow \\ H^{1}(G) \longrightarrow Q(G) \longrightarrow H^{2}_{b}(G) \xrightarrow{c_{G}} H^{2}(G) \\ & & & \tau^{\uparrow} \\ H^{1}(K)^{\Gamma} \end{array}$$

where the exactness of each row and each column comes from REMARK 1.7, THEOREM 1.17, and THEOREM 1.29. By the definition of  $\mathfrak{d}_b$ , we have  $p^*\mathfrak{d}_b(\mu) = \delta_*(\mu)$  for  $\mu \in \mathcal{C}(\Gamma) \cap Q(\Gamma)$ . Thus the map  $p^* \colon H^2_b(G) \to H^2_b(\Gamma)$  gives an isomorphism

$$p^* \colon H^2_b(G) \xrightarrow{\cong} \delta_*(\mathcal{C}(\Gamma) \cap Q(\Gamma)).$$

Therefore, in this diagram, the map  $\mathfrak{d}$  is given as the composite

 $c_G \circ (p^*)^{-1} \circ \delta_* \colon \mathcal{C}(\Gamma) \cap Q(\Gamma) \to H^2(G).$ 

It is easily checked by the diagram chasing that the kernel  $\operatorname{Ker}(\mathfrak{d})$  is equal to  $H^1(\Gamma) + p^*Q(G)$ . The surjectivity of the map  $\mathfrak{d} \colon \mathcal{C}(\Gamma) \cap Q(\Gamma) \to$  $\operatorname{Im}(\tau) \cap \operatorname{Im}(c_G)$  follows from LEMMA 2.11 and a diagram chasing argument.  $\Box$ 

REMARK 2.13. For a central extension  $\Gamma$  of G, the homomorphism  $\mathfrak{d} \colon \mathcal{C}(\Gamma) \to H^2(G)$  induces an isomorphism

$$Q(\Gamma)/(H^1(\Gamma) + p^*Q(G)) \to \operatorname{Im}(\tau) \cap \operatorname{Im}(c_G).$$

since  $\mathcal{C}(\Gamma) \cap Q(\Gamma) = Q(\Gamma)$  (see Remark 2.9). The domain is exactly the space  $\mathcal{ND}$  of the non-descendible homogeneous quasimorphisms.

### 2.3. On universal covering groups

Let G be a connected topological group,  $\widetilde{G}$  the universal covering group of G, and  $\pi_1(G)$  the fundamental group of G. Then, these groups define a group extension

(2.3.1) 
$$0 \to \pi_1(G) \xrightarrow{i} \widetilde{G} \xrightarrow{p} G \to 1.$$

Because the exact sequence (2.3.1) is a central extension, there exists a commutative diagram

$$(2.3.2) \qquad \qquad Q(\widetilde{G}) \xrightarrow{\mathfrak{d}_b} H_b^2(G) \\ \downarrow_{i^*} \qquad \stackrel{\mathfrak{d}_b}{\searrow} \downarrow_{c_G} \\ H^1(\pi_1(G)) \xrightarrow{\tau} H^2(G).$$

by REMARK 2.9. Thus the homomorphism  $\mathfrak{d}: Q(\widetilde{G}) \to H^2(G)$  induces an isomorphism

(2.3.3) 
$$\mathcal{ND} = Q(\widetilde{G})/(H^1(\widetilde{G}) + p^*Q(G)) \to \operatorname{Im}(\tau) \cap \operatorname{Im}(c_G)$$

by Remark 2.13.

Now we give a geometric meaning of the space  $\operatorname{Im}(\tau) \cap \operatorname{Im}(c_G)$ . By considering the classifying spaces of the central extension (2.3.1) with the discrete topology, we obtain the following commutative diagram of fibrations



In what follows, we regard the pullback  $(B\iota)^*$  as a homomorphism

 $(B\iota)^* \colon H^{\bullet}_{\mathrm{top}}(BG) \to H^{\bullet}(G)$ 

under the isomorphism  $H^{\bullet}_{top}(BG^{\delta}) \cong H^{\bullet}(G)$ .

LEMMA 2.14 ([**KM20**]). Let  $(E_r^{p,q}, d_r^{p,q})$  be the cohomology Serre spectral sequence of the fibration  $B\pi_1(G) \to B\widetilde{G} \to BG$ . Then the equality

$$(B\iota)^* \circ d_2^{0,1} = \tau \colon H^1(\pi_1(G)) \to H^2(G)$$

holds, where we identify  $E_2^{0,1}$  with  $H^1(\pi_1(G))$ .

PROOF. Let  $({}^{\delta}E_r^{p,q}, {}^{\delta}d_r^{p,q})$  be the Hochschild-Serre spectral sequence of the central extension (2.3.1). Note that it is isomorphic to the Serre spectral sequence of the fibration  $B\pi_1(G) \to B\widetilde{G}^{\delta} \to BG^{\delta}$  (REMARK 1.16). Thus, by the naturality of the Serre spectral sequence, we obtain

$$(B\iota)^* \circ d_2^{0,1} = {}^{\delta} d_2^{0,1} = \tau$$

and the lemma follows.

REMARK 2.15. Let  $(E_r^{p,q}, d_r^{p,q})$  be the Serre spectral sequence used in LEMMA 2.14, then the map  $d_2^{0,1}$  is an isomorphism. Indeed, the spectral sequence induces an exact sequence

$$0 \to H^1_{\text{top}}(BG) \to H^1_{\text{top}}(B\widehat{G}) \to H^1_{\text{top}}(B\pi_1(G))$$
$$\xrightarrow{d_2^{0,1}} H^2_{\text{top}}(BG) \to H^2_{\text{top}}(B\widehat{G}).$$

Since  $\widetilde{G}$  is one-connected, the classifying space  $B\widetilde{G}$  is two-connected. Thus the cohomologies  $H^1_{\text{top}}(B\widetilde{G})$  and  $H^2_{\text{top}}(B\widetilde{G})$  are trivial, and this implies that the derivation map  $d_2^{0,1}$  is an isomorphism.

COROLLARY 2.16 ([**KM20**]). If  $H^1(\widetilde{G})$  is trivial, the homomorphism

$$(B\iota)^* \colon H^2_{top}(BG) \to H^2(G)$$

is injective.

**PROOF.** The map  $\tau$  is injective since the sequence

$$0 \to H^1(G) \to H^1(\widetilde{G}) \to H^1(\pi_1(G))$$
$$\xrightarrow{\tau} H^2(G) \to H^2(\widetilde{G})$$

is exact and  $H^1(\widetilde{G})$  is trivial. Thus LEMMA 2.14 and REMARK 2.15 say that the map  $(B\iota)^*$  is injective.

The following is the main theorem of this section.

THEOREM 2.17 ([**KM20**]). The homomorphism  $\mathfrak{d}: Q(\widetilde{G}) \to H^2(G)$ induces an isomorphism

$$\mathcal{ND} = Q(\widetilde{G})/(H^1(\widetilde{G}) + p^*Q(G)) \to \operatorname{Im}(B\iota)^* \cap \operatorname{Im}(c_G).$$

PROOF. We have  $\text{Im}(B\iota)^* = \text{Im}(\tau)$  by LEMMA 2.14 and REMARK 2.15. Thus, the isomorphism (2.3.3) implies the theorem.

COROLLARY 2.18 ([**KM20**]). If the first cohomology  $H^1(\widetilde{G})$  is trivial, then the homomorphism  $\mathfrak{d}$  induces the isomorphism

$$Q(G)/p^*Q(G) \to \operatorname{Im}(B\iota)^* \cap \operatorname{Im}(c_G).$$

In particular, if  $\mu \in Q(\widetilde{G})$  does not descend to G, then the class  $\mathfrak{d}(\mu) \in H^2(G)$  is non-trivial.

COROLLARY 2.19 ([**KM20**]). Let X be a closed manifold and  $G = \text{Homeo}_0(X)$  the identity component of Homeo(X), then there is an isomorphism

$$Q(G)/p^*Q(G) \to \operatorname{Im}(c_G).$$

PROOF. Because the map  $(B\iota)^* \colon H^{\bullet}(BG) \to H^{\bullet}(BG^{\delta})$  is isomorphic **[Thu74]** and the universal covering group  $\widetilde{G}$  is perfect **[KR11]**, the corollary follows.

For a homogeneous quasimorphism, the corresponding characteristic class is given as follows.

PROPOSITION 2.20 ([**KM20**]). For an element  $\mu \in Q(\widetilde{G})$ , the equality

$$\mathfrak{d}(\mu) = -(B\iota)^*(\mu|_{\pi_1(G)})_*\mathfrak{o}$$

holds, where  $\mathfrak{o} \in H^2_{top}(BG; \pi_1(G))$  is the primary obstruction class.

PROOF. Let  $(E_r^{p,q}, d_r^{p,q})$  be the Serre spectral sequence of the fibration  $B\pi_1(G) \to B\widetilde{G} \to BG$ . By using PROPOSITION 1.36, we obtain

$$(B\iota)^* d_2^{0,1}(\mu|_{\pi_1(G)}) = -(B\iota)^* (\mu|_{\pi_1(G)})_* \mathfrak{o}.$$

On the other hand, by using LEMMA 2.14 and the commutative diagram (2.3.2), we obtain

$$(B\iota)^* d_2^{0,1}(\mu|_{\pi_1(G)}) = \tau(\mu|_{\pi_1(G)}) = \tau(i^*(\mu)) = \mathfrak{d}(\mu).$$

Therefore the equality  $\mathfrak{d}(\mu) = -(B\iota)^*(\mu|_{\pi_1(G)})_*\mathfrak{o}$  holds.

EXAMPLE 2.21. For the group  $G = \text{Homeo}_+(S^1)$ , the spaces appearing in the isomorphism  $\mathcal{ND} \cong \text{Im}(B\iota)^* \cap \text{Im}(c_G) \subset H^2(G)$  are completely described as follows. By the theorem of Thurston and the isomorphism  $H^2(BG) \cong \mathbb{R}[e]$ , we have  $\text{Im}(B\iota)^* = H^2(G) \cong \mathbb{R}[e]$ , where the class e is the Euler class. Since the Euler class is bounded and the comparison map  $c_G \colon H^2_b(G) \to H^2(G)$  is injective by the theorem of Matsumoto-Morita [MM85], we have  $\text{Im}(c_G) = H^2(G)$ . Therefore we have

$$\operatorname{Im}(B\iota)^* \cap \operatorname{Im}(c_G) = H^2(G) = \mathbb{R}[e].$$

Since the group G is uniformly perfect and the universal covering  $\tilde{G}$  is perfect, we have Q(G) = 0 and  $H^1(\tilde{G}) = 0$ . Moreover, by the theorem of Ghys [**Ghy01**], the space  $Q(\tilde{G})$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{R}[\mu]$ , where  $\mu$  is Poincaré's translation number. Thus we have

$$\mathcal{ND} = Q(\widetilde{G}) \left/ \left( p^* Q(G) + H^1(\widetilde{G}) \right) = Q(\widetilde{G}) \cong \mathbb{R}[\mu], \right.$$

and the isomorphism  $\mathfrak{d} \colon \mathcal{ND} \to \mathrm{Im}(B\iota)^* \cap \mathrm{Im}(c_G)$  sends  $\mu$  to -e by PROPOSITION 2.20.

### 2.4. APPLICATIONS

### 2.4. Applications

In this section, two applications of THEOREM 2.17 and PROPOSI-TION 2.20 are given.

It is an interesting and difficult problem to determine whether a given characteristic class is bounded or not. The Milnor-Wood inequality ([Mil58], [Woo71]) asserts that the Euler class of flat  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ -bundles is bounded. It was shown that any element of  $Im(B\iota)^*$  is bounded for any real algebraic subgroups of  $GL(n, \mathbb{R})$  ([Gro82]).

To the best of the author's knowledge, the boundedness of characteristic classes for homeomorphism groups is known only for the following specific examples.

EXAMPLE 2.22.

- The Euler class of Homeo<sub>+</sub> $(S^1)$  is bounded [Woo71].
- Any non-zero second cohomology class of Homeo₀(ℝ<sup>2</sup>) is unbounded [Cal04].
- Any non-zero second cohomology class of  $Homeo_0(T^2)$  is unbounded, where  $T^2$  is a two-dimensional torus [MR18].
- Let M be a closed Seifert-fibered 3-manifold such that the inclusion  $SO(2) \rightarrow \operatorname{Homeo}_0(M)$  defined by the rotation of the fibers induces an inclusion of  $\pi_1(SO(2))$  as a direct factor in  $\pi_1(\operatorname{Homeo}_0(M))$ . Then several second cohomology classes of  $\operatorname{Homeo}_0(M)$  are unbounded [Man20].

**2.4.1. On the boundedness of characteristic classes.** By using PROPOSITION 2.20 and THEOREM 2.17, we show the boundedness and unboundedness of characteristic classes of foliated  $\text{Symp}_0(S^2 \times S^2, \omega_{\lambda})$ -bundles and foliated  $\text{Cont}_0(S^3, \xi)$ -bundles.

Let  $(S^2 \times S^2, \omega_{\lambda})$  be the symplectic manifold defined in Section 1.4. If  $1 < \lambda \leq 2$ , the fundamental group  $\pi_1(\text{Symp}_0(S^2 \times S^2, \omega_{\lambda}))$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$  (see REMARK 1.42). Let

$$\mathfrak{o}_{S^2 \times S^2} \in H^2(B\operatorname{Symp}_0(S^2 \times S^2, \omega_\lambda); \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})$$

denote the primary obstruction class (see REMARK 1.35). By the change of coefficients homomorphism induced from

$$\phi \colon \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{R} \, ; \, (n,a,b) \mapsto n,$$

we obtain a cohomology class

$$(\mathfrak{o}_{S^2 \times S^2})_{\mathbb{R}} = \phi_*(\mathfrak{o}_{S^2 \times S^2}) \in H^2(B\operatorname{Symp}_0(S^2 \times S^2, \omega_\lambda)).$$

Let us consider the contact manifold  $(S^3, \xi)$  with the standard contact structure  $\xi$ . Because the fundamental group  $\pi_1(\text{Cont}_0(S^3, \xi))$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z}$  ([Eli92]), we obtain the primary obstruction class

 $\mathfrak{o}_{S^3} \in H^2(B\operatorname{Cont}_0(S^3,\xi);\mathbb{Z}).$ 

By the change of coefficients homomorphism induced from the inclusion  $\mathbb{Z} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ , we obtain a cohomology class

 $(\mathfrak{o}_{S^3})_{\mathbb{R}} \in H^2(B\operatorname{Cont}_0(S^3,\xi)).$ 

Now we have similar two characteristic classes  $(\mathfrak{o}_{S^2 \times S^2})_{\mathbb{R}}$  and  $(\mathfrak{o}_{S^3})_{\mathbb{R}}$ . By using THEOREM 2.17 and PROPOSITION 2.20, we can clarify the difference between these classes in terms of boundedness.

COROLLARY 2.23 ([**KM20**]). The following properties hold.

(1) The cohomology class

$$(B\iota)^*(\mathfrak{o}_{S^2 \times S^2})_{\mathbb{R}} \in H^2(\operatorname{Symp}_0(S^2 \times S^2, \omega_\lambda))$$

is bounded.

(2) The cohomology class

$$(B\iota)^*(\mathfrak{o}_{S^3})_{\mathbb{R}} \in H^2(\operatorname{Cont}_0(S^3,\xi))$$

is unbounded.

PROOF. (1) Ostrover introduced in [Ost06] a homogeneous quasimorphism  $\mu^{\lambda}$  on  $\widetilde{\text{Symp}}_0(S^2 \times S^2, \omega_{\lambda})$  that does not descend to  $\operatorname{Symp}_0(S^2 \times S^2, \omega_{\lambda})$ . Since  $\pi_1(\operatorname{Symp}_0(S^2 \times S^2, \omega_{\lambda})) \cong \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$  and the restriction  $\mu^{\lambda}|_{\pi_1(\operatorname{Symp}_0(S^2 \times S^2, \omega_{\lambda}))}$  is a non-trivial homomorphism to  $\mathbb{R}$ , there exists a non-zero constant *a* such that

$$\phi = a\mu^{\lambda}|_{\pi_1(\operatorname{Symp}_0(S^2 \times S^2, \omega_{\lambda}))} \colon \pi_1(\operatorname{Symp}_0(S^2 \times S^2, \omega_{\lambda})) \to \mathbb{R}.$$

Thus, by PROPOSITION 2.20, we have

$$(B\iota)^* (\mathfrak{o}_{S^2 \times S^2})_{\mathbb{R}} = (B\iota)^* \phi_* (\mathfrak{o}_{S^2 \times S^2}) = (B\iota)^* (a\mu|_{\pi_1(\operatorname{Symp}_0(S^2 \times S^2, \omega_\lambda))})_* \mathfrak{o}_{S^2 \times S^2} = -a\mathfrak{d}(\mu|_{\pi_1(\operatorname{Symp}_0(S^2 \times S^2, \omega_\lambda))})$$

Since the class  $\mathfrak{d}(\mu|_{\pi_1(\operatorname{Symp}_0(S^2 \times S^2, \omega_{\lambda}))})$  is bounded, so is  $(B\iota)^*(\mathfrak{o}_{S^2 \times S^2})_{\mathbb{R}}$ .

(2) It was shown in **[FPR18]** that there are no homogeneous quasimorphisms on  $\widetilde{\text{Cont}}(S^3,\xi)_0$ , that is,  $Q(\widetilde{\text{Cont}}(S^3,\xi)_0) = 0$ . Thus, by THEOREM 2.17, we have

$$\operatorname{Im}(B\iota)^* \cap \operatorname{Im}(c_G) = 0.$$

By the perfectness of  $\widetilde{\text{Cont}}(S^3, \xi)_0$  and COROLLARY 2.16, the map  $(Bi)^*$  is injective and thus the class  $(B\iota)^*(\mathfrak{o}_{S^3})_{\mathbb{R}}$  is non-zero. This implies that the class  $(B\iota)^*(\mathfrak{o}_{S^3})_{\mathbb{R}}$  is unbounded.

### 2.4. APPLICATIONS

**2.4.2.** Non-extendability of homomorphisms on  $\pi_1(G)$ . In Subsection 2.4.1, we used the space  $Q(\widetilde{G})$  to show the (un)boundedness of characteristic classes. In this section, on the contrary, we use the unboundedness of characteristic classes to study homogeneous quasimorphisms on  $\widetilde{G}$ .

Let  $T = S^1 \times S^1$  be the two-dimensional torus and  $\text{Homeo}_0(T)$  the identity component of the homeomorphism group. In [Ham65], it was shown that the fundamental group  $\pi_1(\text{Homeo}_0(T))$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ .

COROLLARY 2.24 ([**KM20**]). Any non-zero homomorphism from  $\pi_1(\operatorname{Homeo}_0(T)) \cong \mathbb{Z}^2$  to  $\mathbb{R}$  cannot be extended to a homogeneous quasimorphism on  $\operatorname{Homeo}_0(T)$ .

PROOF. It is enough to show that the space  $Q(\operatorname{Homeo}_0(T))$  is equal to  $p^*Q(\operatorname{Homeo}_0(T))$ , where  $p: \operatorname{Homeo}_0(T) \to \operatorname{Homeo}_0(T)$  is the universal covering. Because the universal covering  $\operatorname{Homeo}_0(T)$  is perfect [KR11], we have

 $Q(\widetilde{\operatorname{Homeo}}_0(T))/p^*Q(\operatorname{Homeo}_0(T)) = \operatorname{Im}(B\iota)^* \cap \operatorname{Im}(c_G)$ 

by COROLLARY 2.18. Since the non-zero classes of  $\text{Im}(B\iota)^*$  are unbounded [MR18], we have

$$Q(\operatorname{Homeo}_0(T))/p^*Q(\operatorname{Homeo}_0(T)) = 0$$

and the corollary holds.

### CHAPTER 3

### Non-extendable homogeneous quasimorphisms

In this chapter, Section 3.2 is based on [Mar20], and Section 3.3 and Section 3.4 are based on a part of the joint work with Morimichi Kawasaki, Mitsuaki Kimura, Takahiro Matsushita, and Masato Mimura [KKM<sup>+</sup>21].

Let  $\Gamma$  be a group and K a normal subgroup of  $\Gamma$ . For a given homogeneous quasimorphism  $\mu$  on K, it is natural to ask whether  $\mu$ can be extended to that on  $\Gamma$  or not. Recall that the inclusion map  $i: K \to \Gamma$  induces the map

$$i^* \colon Q(\Gamma) \to Q(K)^{\Gamma},$$

where  $Q(K)^{\Gamma}$  is the space of all  $\Gamma$ -invariant homogeneous quasimorphisms on K (see REMARK 1.7). Therefore the  $\Gamma$ -invariance is a necessary condition for a homogeneous quasimorphism on K to be extended to that on  $\Gamma$ . In order to discuss the extension problem under the assumption of  $\Gamma$ -invariance, we introduce the following space.

DEFINITION 3.1. For a group  $\Gamma$  and its normal subgroup K, set

(3.0.1) 
$$\mathcal{N}\mathcal{E} = Q(K)^{\Gamma} / \left( i^* Q(\Gamma) + H^1(K)^{\Gamma} \right),$$

where  $i^* \colon Q(\Gamma) \to Q(K)^{\Gamma}$  is the pullback by the inclusion  $i \colon K \to \Gamma$ .

Let  $\Sigma_g$  be a closed oriented surface of genus  $g \geq 2$  and  $\Gamma_g = \pi_1(\Sigma_g)$  the surface group. The main results of this chapter are the following theorems.

THEOREM 3.2. Let  $\Gamma = \Gamma_g$  be the surface group of genus  $g \geq 2$ and  $K = [\Gamma, \Gamma]$  the commutator subgroup. Then the dimension of the space  $\mathcal{NE}$  is equal to one.

For an orientation preserving homeomorphism  $f \in \text{Homeo}_+(\Sigma_g)$ , let  $X_f$  denote the mapping torus.

THEOREM 3.3. Set  $\Gamma = \pi_1(X_f)$  and  $K = [\Gamma, \Gamma]$ . If the mapping class [f] is a pseudo-Anosov element and in the Torelli group  $\mathcal{I}_g$ , then the dimension of the space  $\mathcal{NE}$  is equal to 2g + 1.

Here the Torelli group  $\mathcal{I}_g$  is the subgroup of the mapping class group  $\mathcal{M}_g$  consisting of the elements which act trivially on  $H^{\text{top}}_{\bullet}(\Sigma_g; \mathbb{Z})$ . The Torelli group  $\mathcal{I}_g$  is trivial when g = 1, not finitely generated when g = 2 ([**MM86**]), and finitely generated when  $g \geq 3$  ([**Joh83**]).

REMARK 3.4. It is known that the Torelli group  $\mathcal{I}_g$  contains pseudo-Anosov elements for  $g \geq 2$  (see [FM12, Corollary 14.3] for example). Moreover, in the sense of Random Walk, pseudo-Anosov elements are generic in the Torelli group for  $g \geq 3$  ([LM12] [MS13]).

REMARK 3.5. Three-manifolds we consider in THEOREM 3.3 are basic examples in the following sense: any closed hyperbolic threemanifold is obtained as a mapping torus up to finite-sheeted cover. This is known as the virtual fibering conjecture, which was proposed by Thurston [**Thu82**] and solved by Agol [**Ago13**].

### 3.1. Backgrounds and motivations

In this section, we explain why we consider the space  $\mathcal{NE}$ . The notions introduced in this subsection will not appear in the subsequent sections.

The extendability of  $\Gamma$ -invariant homogeneous quasimorphisms has been studied in [Ish14], [Sht15], [KK19] and [KKMM20]. Let  $\Sigma_g$ be a closed surface of genus  $g \geq 2$  and  $\omega$  a symplectic form. Py constructed in [Py06] a Symp<sub>0</sub>( $\Sigma_g, \omega$ )-invariant homogeneous quasimorphism on the Hamiltonian diffeomorphism group Ham( $\Sigma_g, \omega$ ). In [KK19], Kawasaki and Kimura showed that Py's homogeneous quasimorphism is non-extendable, and this was the only known example of non-extendable homogeneous quasimorphisms at the present moment. THEOREM 3.2 and THEOREM 3.3 give many pair of groups that admit non-extendable homogeneous quasimorphisms.

The triviality and the non-triviality of the space

(3.1.1) 
$$\mathcal{N}\mathcal{E} = Q(K)^{\Gamma} / \left( i^* Q(\Gamma) + H^1(K)^{\Gamma} \right).$$

have several applications below. Ishida showed in **[Ish14]** that any  $\Gamma$ -invariant homogeneous quasimorphism on K can be extended to  $\Gamma$  when  $G = \Gamma/K$  is a finite group. In other words, the map  $i^* \colon Q(\Gamma) \to Q(K)^{\Gamma}$  is surjective. In **[KKMM20]**, Kawasaki, Kimura, Matsushita, and Mimura extended it as follows: if the projection  $\Gamma \to G$  has a virtually splitting, that is, there exists a finite index subgroup  $\Lambda$  of G and a section homomorphism  $s \colon \Lambda \to \Gamma$ , then the map  $i^* \colon Q(\Gamma) \to Q(K)^{\Gamma}$  is surjective. Thus, the non-triviality of the space (3.1.1) gives an obstruction to the existence of virtual splittings.

Another application is to the stable commutator length. Let  $[\Gamma, \Gamma]$ be the commutator subgroup of  $\Gamma$ . The *commutator length*  $cl_{\Gamma}(x)$  of  $x \in [\Gamma, \Gamma]$  is the minimal number of commutators whose product is equal to x. The *stable commutator length*  $scl_{\Gamma}(x)$  is defined as

$$\operatorname{scl}_{\Gamma}(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\operatorname{cl}_{\Gamma}(x^n)}{n}$$

Note that the commutator length  $cl_{\Gamma}$  satisfies subadditivity, and thus the limit exists (see [Cal09] for details). By the pioneering work [Bav91] by Bavard, the following relation between  $scl_{\Gamma}$  and the space  $Q(\Gamma)$  has been clarified.

THEOREM 3.6 (Bavard's duality theorem [**Bav91**]). For  $x \in [\Gamma, \Gamma]$ , the equality

(3.1.2) 
$$\operatorname{scl}(x) = \sup_{[\mu] \in Q(\Gamma)/H^1(\Gamma)} \frac{|\mu(x)|}{2D(\mu)}$$

holds. If the space  $Q(\Gamma)/H^1(\Gamma)$  is trivial, then we regard the right-hand side as zero.

In **[KK19]**, a variant of the (stable) commutator length called the *mixed (stable) commutator length* was introduced. Let  $\Gamma$  be a group and K a normal subgroup of  $\Gamma$ . For  $\gamma \in \Gamma$  and  $k \in K$ , we call an element  $[\gamma, k] = \gamma k \gamma^{-1} k^{-1}$  a *mixed commutator*. Let  $[\Gamma, K]$  denote the subgroup of  $\Gamma$  which is generated by the mixed commutators. The *mixed commutator length*  $cl_{\Gamma,K}(x)$  of  $x \in [\Gamma, K]$  is the minimal number of mixed commutators whose product is equal to x, and the *mixed stable commutator length*  $scl_{\Gamma,K}(x)$  is defined by

$$\operatorname{scl}_{\Gamma,K}(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\operatorname{cl}_{\Gamma,K}(x^n)}{n}$$

In **[KKMM20]**, the following mixed version of Bavard's duality theorem was proven, which clarifies a relation between  $scl_{\Gamma,K}$  and the space  $Q(K)^{\Gamma}$ .

THEOREM 3.7 ([**KKMM20**, Theorem 1.2]). For  $x \in [\Gamma, K]$ , the equality

(3.1.3) 
$$\operatorname{scl}_{\Gamma,K}(x) = \sup_{[\mu] \in Q(K)^{\Gamma}/H^{1}(K)^{\Gamma}} \frac{|\mu(x)|}{2D(\mu)}$$

holds. If the space  $Q(K)^{\Gamma} \setminus H^1(K)^{\Gamma}$  is trivial, then we regard the right-hand side as zero.

By definition,  $\operatorname{scl}_{\Gamma,K}(x)$  is greater than or equal to  $\operatorname{scl}_{\Gamma}(x)$  for  $x \in [\Gamma, K]$ . Moreover, by comparing THEOREM 3.6 with THEOREM 3.7, we may show the difference of  $\operatorname{scl}_{\Gamma}$  and  $\operatorname{scl}_{\Gamma,K}$  if there exists a  $\Gamma$ -invariant non-extendable homogeneous quasimorphism on K. In fact, Kawasaki and Kimura showed in  $[\mathbf{KK19}]$  that there exists an element  $x \in [\Gamma, K]$  such that  $\operatorname{scl}_{\Gamma}(x) = 0$  and  $\operatorname{scl}_{\Gamma,K}(x) > 0$  for  $\Gamma = \operatorname{Symp}_0(\Sigma_g, \omega)$  and  $K = \operatorname{Ham}(\Sigma_g, \omega)$  by using Py's homogeneous quasimorphism on  $\operatorname{Ham}(\Sigma_g, \omega)$ .

### 3.2. Extendable homogeneous quasimorphisms

To explain the difficulty of the extending problem, we present an example of an extendable homogeneous quasimorphism.

Let us consider the symplectomorphism group

$$\Gamma = \operatorname{Symp}(D, \omega)$$

of the closed unit disk  $D = \{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid x^2 + y^2 \leq 1\}$  with the standard symplectic form  $\omega = dx \wedge dy$ . It is known that the homomorphism

$$p: \Gamma \to \operatorname{Diff}_+(S^1)$$

is surjective, which is obtained by restricting the domain to the boundary. Let K be the kernel of the map p, then we obtain a group extension

$$1 \to K \xrightarrow{i} \Gamma \xrightarrow{p} \operatorname{Diff}_+(S^1) \to 1.$$

On the group K, there is a homogeneous quasimorphism called the *Ruelle invariant* [**Rue85**]. In this section, we show that the Ruelle invariant is an extendable homogeneous quasimorphism.

We consider the  $C^{\infty}$ -topology on the group K. Then it is known that the group K is contractible. Take an element k of K and a path  $\{k_t\}_{t\in[0,1]}$  in K with  $k_0 = \text{id}$  and  $k_1 = k$ . For any point  $x \in D$ , let  $u_t(x) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{(0,0)\}$  denote the first column of the differential  $dk_t(x) \in SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ . Then the variation of the angle of  $u_t(x)$  depends on x and the homotopy class of the path  $\{k_t\}_{t\in[0,1]}$  relatively to the fixed ends. Since K is contractible, the variation of the angle of  $u_t(x)$ depends only on the endpoint  $k \in K$ . Therefore we use the symbol  $\operatorname{Ang}_k(x)$  to denote the variation of the angle. This defines a continuous function

$$(3.2.1) \qquad \qquad \operatorname{Ang}_k \colon D \to \mathbb{R}$$

For  $k, l \in K$  and a path  $\{l_t\}_{t \in [0,1]}$  which satisfies  $l_0 = \text{id}$  and  $l_1 = l$ , an inequality

(3.2.2) 
$$|\operatorname{Ang}_{kl}(x) - \operatorname{Ang}_{l}(x) - \operatorname{Ang}_{k}(l(x))| < 1/2$$

holds for any  $x \in D$ , where we consider the variation of the full rotation as one. Define a function  $r: K \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$r(k) = \int_D \operatorname{Ang}_k \cdot \, \omega,$$

where  $\omega$  is the symplectic form. By the above inequality (3.2.2) and the condition  $l^*\omega = \omega$  for  $l \in K$ , the function  $r \colon K \to \mathbb{R}$  is a quasimorphism on K. Let  $R = \overline{r}$  denote the homogenization of r. This homogeneous quasimorphism  $R \colon K \to \mathbb{R}$  is called the *Ruelle invariant*.

As explained above, the definition of the Ruelle invariant R relies on the fact that the group K is contractible. Because the fundamental group of  $\Gamma$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z}$ , we cannot apply the definition of R to the group  $\Gamma$ . However, we will show the following.

THEOREM 3.8 ([Mar20, Theorem 4.4]). There exists a homogeneous quasimorphism

 $\mathfrak{R}\colon\Gamma\to\mathbb{R}$ 

satisfying  $\mathfrak{R}|_{K} = R$ . In other words, the Ruelle invariant R is extendable to the group  $\Gamma$ .

To show THEOREM 3.8, we explicitly construct the homogeneous quasimorphism  $\mathfrak{R}: \Gamma \to \mathbb{R}$ . To do this, first we construct a homogeneous quasimorphism on the universal covering group  $\widetilde{\Gamma}$  rather than  $\Gamma$ .

Let  $q: \widetilde{\Gamma} \to \Gamma$  be the universal covering of  $\Gamma$ . Let us consider the universal covering group  $\widetilde{\Gamma}$  as the group of homotopy classes (relative to the fixed ends) of paths on  $\Gamma$  starting at the identity. For an element  $\alpha$  of  $\widetilde{\Gamma}$ , we can define a continuous function

$$\operatorname{Ang}_{\alpha} \colon D \to \mathbb{R}$$

in the same way as in (3.2.1). More precisely, we define  $\operatorname{Ang}_{\alpha}$  as follows. For a path  $\{\alpha_t\}_{t\in[0,1]}$  representing  $\alpha \in \widetilde{\Gamma}$  and a point  $x \in D$ , let  $u_t(x)$  denote the first column of the differential  $d\alpha_t(x) \in SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ . Then we define  $\operatorname{Ang}_{\alpha}(x)$  as the variation of the angle of the vector  $u_t(x)$ . Note that the value  $\operatorname{Ang}_{\alpha}(x)$  is independent of the choice of the representing path  $\{\alpha_t\}_t$ . This function also satisfies the inequality

$$|\operatorname{Ang}_{\alpha\beta}(x) - \operatorname{Ang}_{\beta}(x) - \operatorname{Ang}_{\alpha}(\beta_1(x))| < 1/2,$$

where  $\beta \in \widetilde{\Gamma}$  and  $\beta_1 = q(\beta) \in \Gamma$  is the projection of  $\beta$ . Thus we obtain a quasimorphism  $\widetilde{r} \colon \widetilde{\Gamma} \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$\widetilde{r}(\alpha) = \int_D \operatorname{Ang}_{\alpha} \cdot \omega$$

and a homogeneous quasimorphism  $\widetilde{R} \colon \widetilde{\Gamma} \to \mathbb{R}$  as the homogenization of  $\widetilde{r}$ .

LEMMA 3.9. The homogeneous quasimorphism  $\widetilde{R}: \widetilde{\Gamma} \to \mathbb{R}$  does not descend to  $\Gamma$ , that is,  $\widetilde{R}$  is not contained in the image of the pullback  $q^*: Q(\Gamma) \to Q(\widetilde{\Gamma}).$ 

PROOF. By LEMMA 1.5, it is enough to show that the restriction  $\widetilde{R}|_{\pi_1(\Gamma)}$  is non-zero. We define  $\rho_{n,t} \colon D \to D$  by

$$\rho_{n,t}(z) = e^{2\pi i n t} \cdot z,$$

where we consider D as the subspace of  $\mathbb{C}$ . Then the path  $\{\rho_{n,t}\}_{t\in[0,1]}$ in  $\Gamma$  defines an non-zero element  $\rho_n = [\{\rho_{n,t}\}_{t\in[0,1]}]$  of  $\pi_1(\Gamma)$ . Moreover, the correspondence between the element  $\rho_n \in \pi_1(\Gamma)$  and the integer  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  gives an isomorphism  $\pi_1(\Gamma) \cong \mathbb{Z}$ . For any  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ , we have  $\operatorname{Ang}_{\rho_n}(z) = n$  for any  $z \in D$  by the definition of Ang, and therefore we have  $\widetilde{r}(\rho_n) = 2\pi n$ . By the definition of the homogenization, we have

$$\widetilde{R}(\rho) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\widetilde{r}(\rho_n)}{n} = 2\pi.$$

Thus the lemma follows.

PROOF OF THEOREM 3.8. Let us consider the following commutative diagram:



where  $\widetilde{p}: \widetilde{\Gamma} \to \widetilde{\text{Diff}}_+(S^1)$  is defined by the restriction of a path  $\alpha_t: D \to D$  to the boundary. Let  $\mu: \widetilde{\text{Diff}}_+(S^1) \to \mathbb{R}$  be Poincaré's translation number. Then the pullback  $\widetilde{p}^*\mu: \widetilde{\Gamma} \to \mathbb{R}$  is a homogeneous quasimorphism which satisfies  $\widetilde{p}^*\mu(\rho_n) = n$ . Let us consider the homogeneous

quasimorphism

$$\widetilde{R} - 2\pi \widetilde{p}^* \mu \colon \widetilde{\Gamma} \to \mathbb{R}.$$

Note that the homogeneous quasimorphism  $\widetilde{R} - 2\pi \widetilde{p}^* \mu$  is equal to zero on  $\pi_1(\Gamma) = \mathbb{Z}$ . Therefore, by LEMMA 1.5, there exists a homogeneous quasimorphism  $\mathfrak{R} \in Q(\Gamma)$  such that the equality

$$q^*\mathfrak{R} = \overline{R} - 2\pi \widetilde{p}^*\mu$$

holds. By the definition of  $\widetilde{R}$  and the Ruelle invariant R, we have  $\widetilde{i}^*\widetilde{R} = R$ . Moreover, by the exactness of  $1 \to K \xrightarrow{\widetilde{i}} \widetilde{\Gamma} \xrightarrow{p} \Gamma \to 1$ , we have

$$\widetilde{i}^*(2\pi\widetilde{p^*}\mu) = 0$$

Therefore we obtain

$$i^*\mathfrak{R} = \widetilde{i}^*q^*\mathfrak{R} = \widetilde{i}^*(\widetilde{R} - 2\pi\widetilde{p}^*\mu) = R.$$

This implies that the Ruelle invariant is extendable to  $\Gamma$ .

### 

### 3.3. Exact sequences

In this section, we show the following:

THEOREM 3.10 ([**KKM**<sup>+</sup>**21**]). For a group extension  $1 \to K \xrightarrow{i} \Gamma \xrightarrow{p} G \to 1$ , there are two exact sequences

(1)  $0 \to \mathcal{NE} \to EH_b^2(K)^{\Gamma}/i^*EH_b^2(\Gamma) \xrightarrow{\alpha} H^1(\Gamma; H^1(K)),$ 

(2)  $H_b^2(G) \to \operatorname{Ker}(i^*) \cap \operatorname{Im}(c_{\Gamma}) \xrightarrow{\beta} EH_b^2(K)^{\Gamma}/i^*EH_b^2(\Gamma) \to H_b^3(G),$ where  $EH_b^2(K)^{\Gamma}$  is the  $\Gamma$ -invariant part of  $EH_b^2(K), c_{\Gamma} \colon H_b^2(\Gamma) \to H^2(\Gamma)$  is the comparison map, and  $i^* \colon H^2(\Gamma) \to H^2(K).$ 

If  $H_b^2(G) = H_b^3(G) = 0$ , then the two exact sequences (1) and (2) of THEOREM 3.10 can be combined into one as follows.

COROLLARY 3.11 ([**KKM**<sup>+</sup>**21**]). If  $H_b^2(G) = H_b^3(G) = 0$ , there is an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{NE} \to \operatorname{Ker}(i^*) \cap \operatorname{Im}(c_{\Gamma}) \xrightarrow{\alpha \circ \beta} H^1(\Gamma; H^1(K)).$$

REMARK 3.12. By COROLLARY 3.11, we have

$$\dim_{\mathbb{R}} \mathcal{NE} \leq \dim_{\mathbb{R}} H^2(\Gamma)$$

if  $H_b^2(G) = H_b^3(G) = 0$ . Thus, for a free group and its commutator subgroup, the space  $\mathcal{NE}$  is trivial.

To prove THEOREM 3.10, we define a map

$$\varphi \colon EH_b^2(K)^{\Gamma} \to H^1(\Gamma; H^1(K)).$$

For an element  $c \in EH_b^2(K)^{\Gamma}$ , take a quasimorphism  $\mu \colon K \to \mathbb{R}$  satisfying  $c = [\delta\mu]$ . Since c is  $\Gamma$ -invariant, the equality  $\gamma[\delta\mu] = [\delta\mu]$  holds for any  $\gamma \in \Gamma$ . Thus, for any  $\gamma \in \Gamma$ , there exists a bounded one-cochain  $b_{\gamma} \in C_b^1(K)$  such that the equality

(3.3.1) 
$$\gamma \delta \mu = \delta \mu + \delta b_{\gamma}$$

holds. The bounded one-cochain  $b_{\gamma}$  is unique. Indeed, if  $\delta b_{\gamma} = \delta c_{\gamma}$ , then  $b_{\gamma} - c_{\gamma}$  is a bounded homomorphism to  $\mathbb{R}$ . This implies that  $b_{\gamma} = c_{\gamma}$ .

DEFINITION 3.13. A cochain  $\varphi_{\mu} \in C^1(\Gamma; H^1(K))$  is defined by

$$\varphi_{\mu}(\gamma) = \mu - {}^{\gamma}\mu + b_{\gamma}.$$

Note that the cochain  $\varphi_{\mu}$  is well defined by (3.3.1).

LEMMA 3.14 ([**KKM**<sup>+</sup>**21**]). A map

$$\varphi \colon EH_b^2(K)^{\Gamma} \to H^1(\Gamma; H^1(K)); [\delta\mu] \mapsto [\varphi_{\mu}]$$

is well defined.

PROOF. For  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2 \in \Gamma$ , we have

$$\delta b_{\gamma_1 \gamma_2} = {}^{\gamma_1 \gamma_2} \delta \mu - \delta \mu = {}^{\gamma_1} ({}^{\gamma_2} \delta \mu - \delta \mu) + {}^{\gamma_1} \delta \mu - \delta \mu$$
$$= {}^{\gamma_1} \delta b_{\gamma_2} + \delta b_{\gamma_1} = \delta ({}^{\gamma_1} b_{\gamma_2} + b_{\gamma_1}),$$

and therefore  $b_{\gamma_1\gamma_2} - (\gamma_1 b_{\gamma_2} + b_{\gamma_1})$  is a bounded homomorphism, that is, the equality  $b_{\gamma_1\gamma_2} = \gamma_1 b_{\gamma_2} + b_{\gamma_1}$  holds. Thus we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \varphi_{\mu}(\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}) &= \mu - \gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}\mu + b_{\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}} \\ &= \gamma_{1}(\mu - \gamma_{2}\mu + b_{\gamma_{2}}) + \mu - \gamma_{1}\mu + b_{\gamma_{1}} \\ &= \gamma_{1}(\varphi_{\mu}(\gamma_{2})) + \varphi_{\mu}(\gamma_{1}), \end{aligned}$$

and this implies that the cochain  $\varphi_{\mu} \in C^1(\Gamma; H^1(K))$  is a cocycle.

Next we show that the class  $\varphi([\delta\mu]) = [\varphi_{\mu}]$  does not depend on the choice of  $\mu$ . Take another quasimorphism  $\mu' \colon K \to \mathbb{R}$  satisfying  $[\delta\mu'] = [\delta\mu] = c$ . Since  $\mu - \mu' \in H^1(K) + C_b^1(K)$ , there exist  $h \in H^1(K)$ and  $b \in C_b^1(K)$  satisfying  $\mu - \mu' = h + b$ . Then we have  $\delta\mu = \delta\mu' + \delta b$ , and hence

$$\gamma(\delta\mu') = \gamma(\delta\mu) - \gamma(\delta b) = \delta\mu + \delta b_{\gamma} - \gamma(\delta b) = \delta\mu' + \delta(b_{\gamma} + b - \gamma b).$$

Thus we obtain

$$(\varphi_{\mu'} - \varphi_{\mu})(\gamma) = (\mu' - \gamma \mu' + (b_{\gamma} + b - \gamma b)) - (\mu - \gamma \mu + b_{\gamma})$$
$$= \gamma h - h = \delta h(\gamma).$$

This implies that the class  $[\varphi_{\mu'}]$  is equal to  $[\varphi_{\mu}]$  in  $H^1(\Gamma; H^1(K))$ .  $\Box$ 

LEMMA 3.15 ( $[KKM^+21]$ ). The sequence

$$0 \to H^1(K)^{\Gamma} \to Q(K)^{\Gamma} \to EH^2_b(K)^{\Gamma} \xrightarrow{\varphi} H^1(\Gamma; H^1(K))$$

is exact.

Since the proof of the lemma is straightforward, we omit it.

PROOF OF THEOREM 3.10 (1). Let us consider the following commutative diagram:

Taking cokernel of the vertical maps, we obtain an exact sequence

$$\begin{split} H^1(K)^{\Gamma}/i^*H^1(\Gamma) &\to Q(K)^{\Gamma}/i^*Q(\Gamma) \\ &\to EH^2_b(K)^{\Gamma}/i^*EH^2_b(\Gamma) \to H^1(\Gamma; H^1(K)), \end{split}$$

where the exactness at  $Q(K)^{\Gamma}/i^*Q(\Gamma)$  comes from the snake lemma and the exactness at  $EH_b^2(K)^{\Gamma}/i^*EH_b^2(\Gamma)$  from a standard diagram chasing. Since the cokernel of the map  $H^1(K)^{\Gamma}/i^*H^1(\Gamma) \to Q(K)^{\Gamma}/i^*Q(\Gamma)$  is equal to  $Q(K)^{\Gamma}/(i^*Q(\Gamma) + H^1(K)^{\Gamma})$ , we obtain the exact sequence

$$0 \to Q(K)^{\Gamma} / \left( i^* Q(\Gamma) + H^1(K)^{\Gamma} \right) \\\to E H_b^2(K)^{\Gamma} / i^* E H_b^2(\Gamma) \xrightarrow{\alpha} H^1(\Gamma; H^1(K)).$$

PROOF OF THEOREM 3.10 (2). Let us consider the following commutative diagram whose rows are exact:

$$\begin{array}{cccc} 0 & \longrightarrow EH_b^2(\Gamma) & \longrightarrow H_b^2(\Gamma) & \longrightarrow \operatorname{Im}(c_{\Gamma}) & \longrightarrow 0 \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ 0 & \longrightarrow EH_b^2(K)^{\Gamma} & \longrightarrow H_b^2(K)^{\Gamma} & \longrightarrow H^2(K)^{\Gamma}. \end{array}$$

By THEOREM 1.29, the kernel of the map  $i^* \colon H^2_b(\Gamma) \to H^2_b(K)^{\Gamma}$  is isomorphic to  $H^2_b(G)$ , and there exists an injection from the cokernel 48

of  $i^* \colon H^2_b(\Gamma) \to H^2_b(K)^{\Gamma}$  to  $H^3_b(G)$ . Thus, by the snake lemma, we obtain the exact sequence

$$H_b^2(G) \to \operatorname{Ker}(i^*) \cap \operatorname{Im}(c_{\Gamma}) \xrightarrow{\beta} EH_b^2(K)^{\Gamma}/i^*EH_b^2(\Gamma) \to H_b^3(G).$$

To show the non-triviality of the space  $\mathcal{NE}$ , the following theorem is essential, which clarifies the relation between COROLLARY 3.11 and the seven-term exact sequence.

THEOREM 3.16 ( $[KKM^+21]$ ). The following diagram commutes:

(3.3.2) 
$$\operatorname{Ker}(i^{*}) \cap \operatorname{Im}(c_{\Gamma}) \xrightarrow{\alpha \circ \beta} H^{1}(\Gamma; H^{1}(K))$$

$$\uparrow p^{*}$$

$$\operatorname{Ker}(i^{*}) \xrightarrow{\zeta} H^{1}(G; H^{1}(K)),$$

where  $\alpha \circ \beta$  is the map in COROLLARY 3.11 and  $\zeta$  in the seven-term exact sequence (1.2.4).

**PROOF.** First we describe the map

$$\alpha \circ \beta \colon \operatorname{Ker}(i^*) \cap \operatorname{Im}(c_{\Gamma}) \to EH_b^2(K)^{\Gamma}/i^*EH_b^2(\Gamma) \to H^1(\Gamma; H^1(K))$$

explicitly. Let c be an element of  $\operatorname{Ker}(i^*) \cap \operatorname{Im}(c_{\Gamma})$ . Take a bounded representative  $f \in C_b^2(\Gamma)$  of c. Since  $i^*c = 0 \in H^2(K)$ , we can take a one-cochain  $\mu \in C^1(K)$  satisfying  $f|_{K \times K} = \delta \mu$ . Since f is bounded,  $\mu$  is a quasimorphism on K. Then by the definition of connecting homomorphism in the snake lemma, we obtain  $\beta(c) = [\delta \mu]$ .

Recall that there exists a unique bounded function  $b_{\gamma} \colon K \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfying

$$\delta b_{\gamma} = {}^{\gamma} \delta \mu - \delta \mu.$$

Next we show the equality  $b_{\gamma}(k) = f(\gamma, \gamma^{-1}k\gamma) - f(k, \gamma)$ . Set  $a_{\gamma}(k) = f(\gamma, \gamma^{-1}k\gamma) - f(k, \gamma)$ . Let k and l be elements of K. Since  $\delta f = 0$ , we have

$$\delta a_{\gamma}(k,l) = \delta a_{\gamma}(k,l) + \delta f(\gamma,\gamma^{-1}k\gamma,\gamma^{-1}l\gamma) + \delta f(k,l,\gamma) - \delta f(k,\gamma,\gamma^{-1}l\gamma) = (^{\gamma}f)(k,l) - f(k,l) = (^{\gamma}(\delta\mu) - \delta\mu)(k,l) = \delta b_{\gamma}(k,l).$$

By the uniqueness of  $b_{\gamma}$ , we have  $a_{\gamma} = b_{\gamma}$ .

Now we shall complete the proof of THEOREM 3.10 (3.3.2). For  $c \in \text{Ker}(i^*) \cap \text{Im}(c_{\Gamma})$ , take a bounded 2-cocycle f of G and a quasimorphism  $\mu: K \to \mathbb{R}$  such that  $f|_{K \times K} = \delta \mu$ . Define  $\mu_{\Gamma} \in C^1(\Gamma)$  by

$$\mu_{\Gamma}(\gamma) = \begin{cases} \mu(\gamma) & \gamma \in K \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Then  $f - \delta \mu_{\Gamma}$  is a cocycle such that  $(f - \delta \mu_{\Gamma})|_{K \times K} = 0$ . Thus PROPO-SITION 1.21 implies

$$\begin{aligned} ((p^*\zeta(c))(\gamma))(k) &= (\zeta(c)(p(\gamma)))(k) \\ &= (f - \delta\mu_{\Gamma})(\gamma, \gamma^{-1}k\gamma) - (f - \delta\mu_{\Gamma})(k, \gamma) \\ &= f(\gamma, \gamma^{-1}k\gamma) - f(k, \gamma) - \mu_{\Gamma}(\gamma^{-1}k\gamma) + \mu_{\Gamma}(k\gamma) \\ &- \mu_{\Gamma}(\gamma) + \mu_{\Gamma}(\gamma) - \mu_{\Gamma}(k\gamma) + \mu_{\Gamma}(k) \\ &= \mu(k) - \gamma\mu(k) + b_{\gamma}(k) \\ &= (\mu - \gamma\mu + b_{\gamma})(k) \\ &= \varphi_{\mu}(\gamma)(k). \end{aligned}$$

This implies  $\alpha \circ \beta(c) = p^* \circ \zeta(c)$ .

### 3.4. Examples

In this section, we prove THEOREM 3.2 and THEOREM 3.3.

**3.4.1. Preliminary.** First we recall the definition of group homology.

DEFINITION 3.17. Let  $C_n(G; \mathbb{Z})$  be the free  $\mathbb{Z}$ -module generated by  $G^n$ . The boundary operator  $\partial \colon C_n(G; \mathbb{Z}) \to C_{n-1}(G; \mathbb{Z})$  is defined by

$$\partial(g_1, \dots, g_n) = (g_2, \dots, g_n) + \sum_i (-1)^i (g_1, \dots, g_i g_{i+1}, \dots, g_n) + (-1)^n (g_1, \dots, g_{n-1}).$$

The homology  $H_{\bullet}(G;\mathbb{Z})$  of the chain complex  $(C_{\bullet}(G;\mathbb{Z}),\partial)$  is called the group homology of G.

Note that the first group homology  $H_1(G;\mathbb{Z})$  is isomorphic to the abelianization  $G_{ab} = G/[G,G]$ .

Let n be an integer greater than one, and set

$$\mathbf{e}_i = (0, \cdots, 1, \cdots, 0) \in \mathbb{Z}^n$$

for  $1 \leq i \leq n$ . For  $1 \leq i < j \leq n$ , let us define  $A_{i,j} \in C^2(\mathbb{Z}^n)$  by

(3.4.1) 
$$A_{i,j}\left(\sum_{k} m_k \mathbf{e}_k, \sum_{l} n_l \mathbf{e}_l\right) = m_i n_j.$$

It is easily shown that the cochain  $A_{i,j}$  is a cocycle. Recall that the cohomology  $H^2(\mathbb{Z}^n)$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{R}^{n(n-1)/2}$  (see EXAMPLE 1.14).

LEMMA 3.18. The family  $\{[A_{i,j}]\}_{1 \le i < j \le n} \subset H^2(\mathbb{Z}^n) \cong \mathbb{R}^{n(n-1)/2}$  is a basis.

PROOF. For  $1 \leq k < l \leq n$ , let us define a group two-chain  $\sigma_{k,l} \in C_2(\mathbb{Z}^n)$  by

$$\sigma_{k,l} = (\mathbf{e}_k, \mathbf{e}_l) + (\mathbf{e}_k + \mathbf{e}_l, -\mathbf{e}_k) - (\mathbf{e}_k, -\mathbf{e}_k) + (0, 0).$$

By definition, the chain  $\sigma_{k,l}$  is a cycle. Moreover, we have

$$\langle A_{i,j}, \sigma_{k,l} \rangle = \begin{cases} 1 & (i,j) = (k,l) \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

where  $\langle A_{i,j}, \sigma_{k,l} \rangle$  is the pairing. Thus the classes  $[A_{i,j}]$  are non-zero and linearly independent, and the lamma follows.

REMARK 3.19. Since  $A_{i,j}$  is also a Z-coefficients group cocycle, it defines an element of  $H^2(\mathbb{Z}^n;\mathbb{Z})$ . Moreover, by the arguments same as in the proof of LEMMA 3.18, we can show that the classes  $[A_{i,j}]$  are free generators of  $H^2(\mathbb{Z}^n;\mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{Z}^{n(n-1)/2}$ .

We will use the following theorem in the proof of THEOREM 3.2 and THEOREM 3.3.

THEOREM 3.20 ([**Gro82**, 1.2.(C)]). Let X be a closed hyperbolic manifold, then the comparison map

$$c_{\pi_1(X)} \colon H^n_b(\pi_1(X)) \to H^n(\pi_1(X))$$

is surjective for  $n \geq 2$ .

**3.4.2.** On the surface groups. In this subsection, we prove THE-OREM 3.2. Let

$$\Gamma_g = \langle a_1, \dots, a_{2g} \mid [a_1, a_2] \dots [a_{2g-1}, a_{2g}] \rangle$$

be the surface group. Set  $\Gamma = \Gamma_g$  and  $K = [\Gamma, \Gamma]$ , then there is a group extension

$$(3.4.2) 1 \to K \xrightarrow{i} \Gamma \xrightarrow{p} \mathbb{Z}^{2g} \to 0,$$

where p is the abelianization homomorphism. Note that the map  $p: \Gamma_g \to \mathbb{Z}^{2g}$  sends  $a_i$  to  $\mathbf{e}_i$  for each  $1 \leq i \leq 2g$ . Recall that there is an exact sequence

(3.4.3) 
$$H^2(\mathbb{Z}^{2g}) \xrightarrow{p^*} \operatorname{Ker}(i^*) \xrightarrow{\zeta} H^1(\mathbb{Z}^{2g}; H^1(K)),$$

which is a part of the seven-term exact sequence of (3.4.2). Here  $\operatorname{Ker}(i^*)$  is a subspace of  $H^2(\Gamma) \cong \mathbb{R}$ .

LEMMA 3.21. The map  $p^* \colon H^2(\mathbb{Z}^{2g}) \to \operatorname{Ker}(i^*)$  is non-zero. In particular,  $\operatorname{Ker}(i^*)$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{R}$ .

PROOF. We show that the class  $p^*[A_{1,2}] \in \text{Ker}(i^*) \subset H^2(\Gamma)$  is nonzero. It is known that the generator of  $H_2(\Gamma; \mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{Z}$  is represented by the following group two-cycle:

(3.4.4)

$$\sigma = (a_1, a_2) + (a_1 a_2, a_1^{-1}) + (a_1 a_2 a_1^{-1}, a_2^{-1}) + (a_1 a_2 a_1^{-1} a_2^{-1}, a_3) + \dots + (a_1 a_2 a_1^{-1} \dots a_{2g}, a_{2g-1}^{-1}) + (a_1 a_2 a_1^{-1} \dots a_{2g} a_{2g-1}^{-1}, a_{2g}^{-1}) - (2g+1)(\mathrm{id}_{\Gamma}, \mathrm{id}_{\Gamma}) - \sum_i (a_i, a_i^{-1})$$

(see [Dup78] for example). The pushforward  $p_*(\sigma) \in C_2(\mathbb{Z}^{2g})$  is equal to

$$(\mathbf{e}_{1}, \mathbf{e}_{2}) + (\mathbf{e}_{1} + \mathbf{e}_{2}, -\mathbf{e}_{1}) + (\mathbf{e}_{2}, -\mathbf{e}_{2}) + (0, \mathbf{e}_{3}) + \dots + (\mathbf{e}_{2g-1} + \mathbf{e}_{2g}, -\mathbf{e}_{2g-1}) + (\mathbf{e}_{2g}, -\mathbf{e}_{2g}) - (2g+1)(0, 0) - \sum_{i} (\mathbf{e}_{i}, -\mathbf{e}_{i}).$$

By definition of  $A_{1,2}$ , we have

$$\langle p^* A_{1,2}, \sigma \rangle = \langle A_{1,2}, p_* \sigma \rangle = 1.$$

Thus the class  $p^*[A_{1,2}] \in \text{Ker}(i^*)$  is non-zero, and the lemma follows.  $\Box$ 

REMARK 3.22. The map

$$p^* \colon H^1(\mathbb{Z}^{2g}; \mathbb{Z}) \to \operatorname{Ker}(i^* \colon H^2(\Gamma; \mathbb{Z}) \to H^2(K; \mathbb{Z}))$$

sends  $[A_{1,2}] \in H^2(\mathbb{Z}^{2g};\mathbb{Z})$  to the generator of  $H^2(\Gamma;\mathbb{Z})$  by the arguments same as in the proof of LEMMA 3.21.

PROOF OF THEOREM 3.2. By COROLLARY 3.11 and THEOREM 3.16, we obtain commutative diagram whose rows are exact:

where  $i^* \colon H^2(\Gamma) \to H^2(K)$ . By THEOREM 3.20, the comparison map  $c_{\Gamma} \colon H^2_b(\Gamma) \to H^2(\Gamma)$  is surjective. Thus we have  $\operatorname{Ker}(i^*) \cap \operatorname{Im}(c_{\Gamma}) = \operatorname{Ker}(i^*)$ . By LEMMA 3.21, the kernel  $\operatorname{Ker}(i^*)$  is equal to  $H^2(\Gamma) \cong \mathbb{R}$  and contained in the image of  $p^* \colon H^2(\mathbb{Z}^{2g}) \to \operatorname{Ker}(i^*)$ . Therefore the map  $\zeta$  is zero. By the commutativity of the diagram above, the map  $\alpha \circ \beta$  is also zero. By the exactness of the first low, we have  $\mathcal{NE} \cong \operatorname{Ker}(i^*) \cap \operatorname{Im}(c_{\Gamma}) \cong \mathbb{R}$ .

**3.4.3.** On the fundamental group of mapping tori. In this subsection, we prove THEOREM 3.3. Let  $\Sigma_g$  be a closed oriented surface of genus  $g \geq 2$  and  $\mathcal{M}_g = \pi_0(\operatorname{Homeo}_+(\Sigma_g))$  the mapping class group. For a homeomorphism  $f \in \operatorname{Homeo}_+(\Sigma_g)$ , let

$$X_f = \Sigma_g \times [0, 1] / (x, 0) \sim (f(x), 1)$$

denote the mapping torus. Let  $\Gamma_g$  be the surface group and  $f_* \colon \Gamma_g \to \Gamma_g$ the pushforward. Under the presentation

$$\Gamma_g = \langle a_1, \dots, a_{2g} \mid [a_1, a_2] \dots [a_{2g-1}, a_{2g}] \rangle,$$

the presentation of the group  $\Gamma$  is given by

$$\Gamma = \langle a_1, \dots, a_{2g}, a_{2g+1} | [a_1, a_2] \dots [a_{2g-1}, a_{2g}],$$
$$a_{2g+1}a_i = (f_*a_i)a_{2g+1} \text{ for all } 1 \le i \le 2g \rangle$$

since the fundamental group  $\Gamma$  of the mapping torus  $X_f$  is isomorphic to the semidirect product  $\Gamma_g \rtimes_{f_*} \mathbb{Z}$ .

By the Nielsen-Thurston classification, any element of  $\mathcal{M}_g$  is periodic, reducible, or pseudo-Anosov. Moreover, this classification determines the geometry on the mapping torus. If the mapping class of f is pesudo-Anosov, the following holds (for other cases, see also [FM12]).

THEOREM 3.23 ([**Thu86**], [**Ota96**]). The mapping class  $[f] \in \mathcal{M}_g$  is a pseudo-Anosov element if and only if the mapping torus  $X_f$  admits a hyperbolic structure.

In this subsection, we set  $\Gamma = \pi_1(X_f)$  and  $K = [\Gamma, \Gamma]$ .

LEMMA 3.24 ([**KKM**<sup>+</sup>**21**]). If the mapping class [f] is a pseudo-Anosov element and in the Torelli group  $\mathcal{I}_g$ , then the abelianization  $\Gamma/K$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z}^{2g+1}$ . In particular, the dimension of  $H^2(\Gamma/K)$  is equal to g(2g+1).

PROOF. By THEOREM 3.23, the mapping torus  $X_f$  is  $K(\Gamma, 1)$ manifold, and thus the homology of  $X_f$  is isomorphic to the group homology of  $\Gamma$ . Since  $\Gamma/K$  is the abelianization of  $\Gamma$ , we have

$$\Gamma/K = H_1(\Gamma; \mathbb{Z}) \cong H_1^{\mathrm{top}}(X_f; \mathbb{Z}).$$

A part of the homology five-term exact sequence of the fibration

$$\Sigma_q \to X_f \to S^1$$

gives the following exact sequence:

$$0 \to H_1^{\text{top}}(\Sigma_g; \mathbb{Z})^{\mathbb{Z}} \to H_1^{\text{top}}(X_f; \mathbb{Z}) \to H_1^{\text{top}}(S^1; \mathbb{Z}) \to 0.$$

Note that the  $\mathbb{Z}$ -action on  $H_1^{\text{top}}(\Sigma_g; \mathbb{Z})$  is defined by the pushforward  $f_* \colon H_1^{\text{top}}(\Sigma_g; \mathbb{Z}) \to H_1^{\text{top}}(\Sigma_g; \mathbb{Z})$ . Since the element [f] is in the Torelli group, the action on  $H_1(\Sigma_g; \mathbb{Z})$  is trivial, and therefore  $H_1^{\text{top}}(\Sigma_g; \mathbb{Z})^{\mathbb{Z}} = H_1^{\text{top}}(\Sigma_g; \mathbb{Z})$ . Thus we have  $\Gamma/K \cong H_1^{\text{top}}(X_f; \mathbb{Z}) = \mathbb{Z}^{2g+1}$ .

REMARK 3.25. The abelianization homomorphism  $p: \Gamma \to \mathbb{Z}^{2g+1}$ sends  $a_i$  to  $\mathbf{e}_i$  for each i.

By LEMMA 3.24, we have the group extension

$$(3.4.5) 1 \to K \xrightarrow{i} \Gamma \xrightarrow{p} \mathbb{Z}^{2g+1} \to 0$$

Thus we obtain the exact sequence

$$H^2(\mathbb{Z}^{2g+1}) \xrightarrow{p^*} \operatorname{Ker}(i^*) \to H^1(\mathbb{Z}^{2g+1}; H^1(K))$$

by the seven-term exact sequence of (3.4.5). Note that the space  $\operatorname{Ker}(i^*)$  is the subspace of  $H^2(\Gamma) \cong \mathbb{R}^{2g+1}$ .

LEMMA 3.26. The image of the map  $p^* \colon H^2(\mathbb{Z}^{2g+1}) \to \operatorname{Ker}(i^*)$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{R}^{2g+1}$ . In particular, the map  $p^*$  is surjective.

PROOF. Let  $A_{i,j} \in C^2(\mathbb{Z}^{2g+1})$  be the group two-cocycles defined by (3.4.1). We show that the classes  $p^*[A_{1,2}]$  and  $p^*[A_{i,2g+1}]$  for each  $1 \leq i \leq 2g$  are non-zero and linearly independent. Let  $\sigma \in C_2(\Gamma)$  be a group two-cycle defined by the formula (3.4.4). Then the class  $p^*[A_{1,2}]$ is non-zero by the argument same as in the proof of LEMMA 3.21. Recall that the relation  $a_{2g+1}a_ia_{2g+1}^{-1} = f_*a_i$  for each  $1 \leq i \leq 2g$ . Since the mapping class [f] is in the Torelli group, the class  $(f_*a_i) \cdot a_i^{-1}$  is in the commutator subgroup  $[\Gamma_q, \Gamma_q]$ , where we consider  $\Gamma_q$  as a normal subgroup of  $\Gamma$ . Thus there exists a group two-chain  $u_i \in C_2(\Gamma_g)$  such that  $\partial u_i = (f_*a_i) \cdot a_i^{-1}$ . Let us define a group two-cycle  $\sigma_i \in C_2(\Gamma)$  by

$$\sigma_i = (f_*a_i, a_{2g+1}) - (a_{2g+1}, a_i) + ((f_*a_i) \cdot a_i^{-1}, a_i) - u_i.$$

Since the mapping class [f] is in the Torelli group, the projection  $p_*(f_*a_i)$  is equal to  $\mathbf{e}_i$  for each  $1 \leq i \leq 2g$ . Thus we have

$$p_*\sigma_i = (\mathbf{e}_i, \mathbf{e}_{2g+1}) - (\mathbf{e}_{2g+1}, \mathbf{e}_i) + (0, \mathbf{e}_i) - p_*u_i.$$

Note that  $p_*u_i \in C_2(\mathbb{Z}^{2g+1})$  does not contain the term  $\mathbf{e}_{2g+1}$ . Thus we have

(3.4.6) 
$$\langle A_{i,2g+1}, \sigma_j \rangle = \begin{cases} 1 & i=j \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

and therefore the class  $p^*[A_{i,2g+1}] \in H^2(\mathbb{Z}^{2g+1})$  is non-zero. We now show that the classes  $p^*[A_{1,2}]$  and  $p^*[A_{i,2g+1}]$  are linearly independent. Assume that the class  $rp^*[A_{1,2}] + \sum_i r_i p^*[A_{i,2g+1}]$  is equal to zero. By taking the pairing with the homology class  $[\sigma] \in H_2(\Gamma)$  defined above, we have r = 0. Then the condition (3.4.6) implies the equality  $r_i = 0$ for each i.

PROOF OF THEOREM 3.3. By COROLLARY 3.11 and THEOREM 3.16, we obtain the following commutative diagram whose rows are exact:

where  $i^* \colon H^2(\Gamma) \to H^2(K)$ . By THEOREM 3.20 and THEOREM 3.23, the comparison map  $c_{\Gamma} \colon H^2_b(\Gamma) \to H^2(\Gamma)$  is surjective. Thus we have  $\operatorname{Ker}(i^*) \cap \operatorname{Im}(c_{\Gamma}) = \operatorname{Ker}(i^*) \cong \mathbb{R}^{2g+1}$ . Since the map  $p^*$  is surjective by LEMMA 3.26, the map  $\zeta$  is zero. By the commutativity of the diagram above, the map  $\alpha \circ \beta$  is also zero. By the exactness of the first low, we have  $\mathcal{NE} \cong \operatorname{Ker}(i^*) \cap \operatorname{Im}(c_{\Gamma}) \cong \mathbb{R}^{2g+1}$ .  $\Box$ 

### 3.5. Explicit construction of a homogeneous quasimorphism

We return to the case of the surface group. Let  $\Gamma = \Gamma_g$  be the surface group of genus  $g \geq 2$  and  $K = [\Gamma, \Gamma]$  the commutator subgroup. By THEOREM 3.2, the dimension of the space

$$\mathcal{NE} = Q(K)^{\Gamma} / \left( i^* Q(\Gamma) + H^1(K)^{\Gamma} \right)$$

is equal to one. In this section, we describe a non-zero element in  $\mathcal{NE}$  in terms of Poincaré's translation number.

Let  $e \in H^2(\text{Homeo}_+(S^1);\mathbb{Z})$  be the Euler class, that is, the cohomology class corresponding to the central extension

$$0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to \widetilde{\operatorname{Homeo}}_+(S^1) \xrightarrow{\pi} \operatorname{Homeo}_+(S^1) \to 1$$

(see also PROPOSITION 1.11). Let  $\rho: \Gamma \to \text{Homeo}_+(S^1)$  be a homomorphism such that the class  $\rho^* e \in H^2(\Gamma; \mathbb{Z})$  is non-zero. It is known that there exists such a homomorphism  $\rho$ , e.g., a maximal representation.

LEMMA 3.27. Let  $i: K \to \Gamma$  be the inclusion. Then the map  $\rho \circ i: K \to \operatorname{Homeo}_+(S^1)$  has a lift  $\tilde{\rho}: K \to \operatorname{Homeo}_+(S^1)$ , that is, the diagram

$$(3.5.1) \qquad \qquad K \xrightarrow{\widetilde{\rho}} \widetilde{\operatorname{Homeo}}_{+}(S^{1}) \\ \downarrow^{i} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\pi} \\ \Gamma \xrightarrow{\rho} \operatorname{Homeo}_{+}(S^{1}) \end{cases}$$

commutes.

PROOF. By REMARK 3.22, we have  $\operatorname{Ker}(i^*) = H^2(\Gamma_g; \mathbb{Z})$  for the map  $i^* \colon H^2(\Gamma; \mathbb{Z}) \to H^2(K; \mathbb{Z})$ . Thus the class  $i^* \rho^* e$  is equal to zero. By PROPOSITION 1.12, there exists a lift  $\rho$  of  $\rho \circ i$ .

REMARK 3.28. We can also construct a lift  $\tilde{\rho}$  explicitly. Since the commutator subgroup  $K = [\Gamma_g, \Gamma_g]$  is an infinite-rank free group, we take a generating set  $\{a_j\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$  of K. Set

$$a_j = [\gamma_{1,j}, \gamma_{2,j}] \dots [\gamma_{n_j-1,j}, \gamma_{n_j,j}].$$

Let  $s: \operatorname{Homeo}_+(S^1) \to \operatorname{Homeo}_+(S^1)$  be a section. We define a homomorphism  $\widetilde{\rho}: K \to \operatorname{Homeo}_+(S^1)$  by

$$\widetilde{\rho}(a_j) = [s\rho(\gamma_{1,j}), s\rho(\gamma_{2,j})] \dots [s\rho(\gamma_{n_j-1,j}), s\rho(\gamma_{n_j,j})],$$

then this  $\tilde{\rho}$  is a lift of  $\rho|_K \colon K \to \text{Homeo}_+(S^1)$ . Note that this lift  $\tilde{\rho}$  is independent of the choice of the section s.

Let  $\mu \in Q(\widetilde{\text{Homeo}}_+(S^1))$  denote Poincaré's translation number. By the lift  $\tilde{\rho}$ , we obtain a homogeneous quasimorphism  $\tilde{\rho}^* \mu$  on K.

PROPOSITION 3.29. There exists a homomorphism  $h \in H^1(K)$  such that the sum  $\tilde{\rho}^* \mu + h$  is  $\Gamma$ -invariant.

PROOF. By LEMMA 3.21 and the seven-term exact sequence of  $1 \to K \to \Gamma \to \mathbb{Z}^{2g} \to 0$ , we have  $\zeta(\rho^* e_{\mathbb{R}}) = 0$ . Here  $\zeta$  is the map in the seven-term exact sequence and  $e_{\mathbb{R}} \in H^2(\operatorname{Homeo}_+(S^1))$  is the real Euler class. Let  $e_b \in H^2_b(\operatorname{Homeo}_+(S^1))$  be the bounded Euler class, that is,  $e_b$  is the element satisfies  $c_{\operatorname{Homeo}_+(S^1)}(e_b) = e_{\mathbb{R}}$ . It is known that Poincaré's translation number  $\mu$  satisfies  $[\delta\mu] = -\pi^* e_b$ . Therefore we have

$$-i^*\rho^*e_b = -\widetilde{\rho}^*\pi^*e_b = [\delta(\widetilde{\rho}^*\mu)].$$

Note that the class  $[\delta(\tilde{\rho}^*\mu)]$  is  $\Gamma$ -invariant since it is in the image of  $i^* \colon H^2_b(\Gamma) \to H^2_b(K)^{\Gamma}$ . By THEOREM 3.10 (3.3.2), we have

$$\alpha([\delta(\widetilde{\rho}^*\mu)]) = p^*\zeta(\rho^*e_{\mathbb{R}}) = 0$$

By the definitions of the maps  $\varphi$  and  $\alpha$  (see LEMMA 2.3 and the proof of THEOREM 3.10 (1)), we have

$$0 = \alpha([\delta(\tilde{\rho}^*\mu)]) = [\varphi_{\tilde{\rho}^*\mu}] \in H^1(\Gamma, H^1(K)).$$

By the equality  $[\varphi_{\tilde{\rho}^*\mu}] = 0$ , there exists an element  $h \in H^1(K)$  such that the equality

(3.5.2) 
$$\varphi_{\widetilde{\rho}^*\mu}(\gamma) = {}^{\gamma}h - h$$

56

holds for any  $\gamma \in \Gamma$ . By the definition of  $\varphi_{\tilde{\rho}^*\mu}$  (DEFINITION 3.13), for any  $\gamma \in \Gamma_g$ , there exists a unique bounded function  $b_{\gamma} \colon K \to \mathbb{R}$  such that the equality

(3.5.3) 
$$\varphi_{\widetilde{\rho}^*\mu}(\gamma) = \widetilde{\rho}^*\mu - {}^{\gamma}(\widetilde{\rho}^*\mu) + b_{\gamma}$$

holds. By (3.5.2) and (3.5.3), we obtain

(3.5.4) 
$$\gamma(\widetilde{\rho}^*\mu + h) - (\widetilde{\rho}^*\mu + h) = b_{\gamma}.$$

Since the left-hand side of (3.5.4) is a homogeneous quasimorphism and the right-hand side of (3.5.4) is a bounded function, we have

$$\gamma(\widetilde{\rho}^*\mu + h) - (\widetilde{\rho}^*\mu + h) = 0,$$

and this implies that the homogeneous quasimorphism  $\tilde{\rho}^* \mu + h$  is  $\Gamma$ -invariant.  $\Box$ 

THEOREM 3.30. Let  $\tilde{\rho}^* \mu + h \in Q(K)^{\Gamma}$  be a  $\Gamma$ -invariant homogeneous quasimorphism, where  $h \in H^1(K)$ . Then  $\tilde{\rho}^* \mu + h$  gives a non-zero element of  $\mathcal{NE}$ .

PROOF. Assume that there exist elements  $\mu' \in Q(\Gamma)$  and  $h' \in H^1(K)^{\Gamma}$  such that the equality

$$\widetilde{\rho}^*\mu + h = i^*\mu' + h'$$

holds. Then we have  $[\delta(\tilde{\rho}^*\mu)] = i^*[\delta\mu'] \in H^2_b(K)$ . Moreover, by the diagram (3.5.1), we have

$$[\delta(\widetilde{\rho}^*\mu)] = \widetilde{\rho}^*[\delta\mu] = -\widetilde{\rho}^*\pi^*e_b = i^*(-\rho^*e_b).$$

Thus we obtain  $i^*[\delta\mu'] = i^*(-\rho^*e_b) \in H_b^2(K)$ . By THEOREM 1.29 and the triviality of the second bounded cohomology of  $\Gamma/K \cong \mathbb{Z}^{2g}$ , the map  $i^* \colon H_b^2(\Gamma) \to H_b^2(K)^{\Gamma}$  is injective. Thus the equality  $[\delta\mu'] = -\rho^*e_b \in H_b^2(\Gamma)$  holds, and therefore the image  $c_{\Gamma}(\rho^*e_b) \in H^2(\Gamma)$  is equal to zero. This contradicts the assumption  $\rho^*e \neq 0$ . Indeed, we have

$$c_{\Gamma_q}(\rho^* e_b) = \rho^*(c_{\operatorname{Homeo}_+(S^1)} e_b) = \rho^* e_{\mathbb{R}} \in H^2(\Gamma).$$

Moreover, since the change of coefficients map

$$f: H^2(\Gamma; \mathbb{Z}) \to H^2(\Gamma)$$

is injective, the class  $\rho^* e_{\mathbb{R}} = f(\rho^* e)$  is non-zero.

# Bibliography

[Ago13]	Ian Agol, <i>The virtual Haken conjecture</i> , Doc. Math. <b>18</b> (2013), 1045–1087, With an appendix by Agol, Daniel Groves, and Jason Manning.
[Anj02]	Sílvia Anjos, Homotopy type of symplectomorphism groups of $S^2 \times S^2$ , Geom. Topol. <b>6</b> (2002), 195–218.
[Ban78]	Augustin Banyaga, Sur la structure du groupe des difféomorphismes qui préservent une forme symplectique, Comment. Math. Helv. <b>53</b> (1978), no. 2, 174–227
[Ban97]	, The structure of classical diffeomorphism groups, Mathematics and its Applications, vol. 400, Kluwer Academic Publishers Group, Dordrecht 1997
[Bav91]	Christophe Bavard, <i>Longueur stable des commutateurs</i> , Enseign. Math. (2) <b>37</b> (1991), no. 1-2, 109–150.
[BHW19]	Jonathan Bowden, Sebastian Hensel, and Richard Webb, <i>Quasimorphisms on surface diffeomorphism groups</i> , arXiv:1909.07164 (2019).
[Bou95]	Abdessalam Bouarich, Suites exactes en cohomologie bornée réelle des groupes discrets, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. <b>320</b> (1995), no. 11, 1355–1359.
[Bro81]	Robert Brooks, <i>Some remarks on bounded cohomology</i> , Riemann sur- faces and related topics: Proceedings of the 1978 Stony Brook Confer- ence (State Univ. New York, Stony Brook, N.Y., 1978), Ann. of Math. Stud., vol. 97, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, N.J., 1981, pp. 53–63.
[Bro82]	Kenneth S. Brown, <i>Cohomology of groups</i> , Graduate Texts in Mathe- matics, vol. 87, Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1982.
[Cal04]	Danny Calegari, <i>Circular groups, planar groups, and the Euler class,</i> Proceedings of the Casson Fest, Geom. Topol. Monogr., vol. 7, Geom. Topol. Publ., Coventry, 2004, pp. 431–491.
[Cal09]	, <i>scl</i> , MSJ Memoirs, vol. 20, Mathematical Society of Japan, Tokvo, 2009.
[DHW12]	Karel Dekimpe, Manfred Hartl, and Sarah Wauters, A seven-term ex- act sequence for the cohomology of a group extension, J. Algebra <b>369</b> (2012), 70–95.
[Dup78]	Johan L. Dupont, <i>Curvature and characteristic classes</i> , Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 640, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1978.
[EF97]	David B. A. Epstein and Koji Fujiwara, <i>The second bounded cohomol-</i> ogy of word-hyperbolic groups, Topology <b>36</b> (1997), no. 6, 1275–1289.

[Eli92] Ogy of word-hyperbolic groups, Topology 36 (1997), no. 6, 1275–1289.
[Eli92] Yakov Eliashberg, Contact 3-manifolds twenty years since J. Martinet's work, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 42 (1992), no. 1-2, 165–192.

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [EP03] Michael Entov and Leonid Polterovich, *Calabi quasimorphism and quantum homology*, Int. Math. Res. Not. (2003), no. 30, 1635–1676.
- [FM12] Benson Farb and Dan Margalit, A primer on mapping class groups, Princeton Mathematical Series, vol. 49, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2012.
- [FOOO19] Kenji Fukaya, Yong-Geun Oh, Hiroshi Ohta, and Kaoru Ono, Spectral invariants with bulk, quasi-morphisms and Lagrangian Floer theory, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 260 (2019), no. 1254, x+266.
- [FPR18] Maia Fraser, Leonid Polterovich, and Daniel Rosen, On Sandon-type metrics for contactomorphism groups, Ann. Math. Qué. 42 (2018), no. 2, 191–214.
- [Fri17] Roberto Frigerio, Bounded cohomology of discrete groups, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, vol. 227, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2017.
- [GG04] Jean-Marc Gambaudo and Étienne Ghys, Commutators and diffeomorphisms of surfaces, Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems 24 (2004), no. 5, 1591–1617.
- [Ghy01] Étienne Ghys, Groups acting on the circle, Enseign. Math. (2) 47 (2001), no. 3-4, 329–407.
- [Ghy07] \_\_\_\_\_, *Knots and dynamics*, International Congress of Mathematicians. Vol. I, Eur. Math. Soc., Zürich, 2007, pp. 247–277.
- [Giv90] Alexander B. Givental, Nonlinear generalization of the Maslov index, Theory of singularities and its applications, Adv. Soviet Math., vol. 1, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1990, pp. 71–103.
- [Gro82] Michael Gromov, Volume and bounded cohomology, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. (1982), no. 56, 5–99 (1983).
- [Gro85] \_\_\_\_\_, Pseudo holomorphic curves in symplectic manifolds, Invent. Math. 82 (1985), no. 2, 307–347.
- [Ham65] Mary-Elizabeth Hamstrom, The space of homeomorphisms on a torus, Illinois J. Math. 9 (1965), 59–65.
- [HS53] Gerhard Paul Hochschild and Jean-Pierre Serre, *Cohomology of group* extensions, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **74** (1953), 110–134.
- [Ish14] Tomohiko Ishida, Quasi-morphisms on the group of area-preserving diffeomorphisms of the 2-disk via braid groups, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. Ser. B 1 (2014), 43–51.
- [Joh72] Barry Edward Johnson, Cohomology in Banach algebras, American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1972, Memoirs of the American Mathematical Society, No. 127.
- [Joh83] Dennis Johnson, The structure of the Torelli group. I. A finite set of generators for I, Ann. of Math. (2) 118 (1983), no. 3, 423–442.
- [KK19] Morimichi Kawasaki and Mitsuaki Kimura, G-invariant quasimorphisms and symplectic geometry of surfaces, arXiv:1911.10855 (2019).
- [KKM<sup>+</sup>21] Morimichi Kawasaki, Mitsuaki Kimura, Shuhei Maruyama, Takahiro Matsushita, and Masato Mimura, *The space of non-extendable quasi*morphisms, arXiv:2107.08571 (2021).
- [KKMM20] Morimichi Kawasaki, Mitsuaki Kimura, Takahiro Matsushita, and Masato Mimura, Bavard's duality theorem for mixed commutator length, arXiv:2007.02257 (2020).

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [KM20] Morimichi Kawasaki and Shuhei Maruyama, On boundedness of characteristic class via quasi-morphism, arXiv:2012.10612 (2020).
- [KR11] Agnieszka Kowalik and Tomasz Rybicki, On the homeomorphism groups of manifolds and their universal coverings, Cent. Eur. J. Math. 9 (2011), no. 6, 1217–1231.
- [LM12] Alexander Lubotzky and Chen Meiri, Sieve methods in group theory II: the mapping class group, Geom. Dedicata **159** (2012), 327–336.
- [Man20] Kathryn Mann, Unboundedness of some higher Euler classes, Algebr. Geom. Topol. 20 (2020), no. 3, 1221–1234.
- [Mar20] Shuhei Maruyama, Extensions of quasi-morphisms to the symplectomorphism group of the disk, arXiv:2005.10567 (2020).
- [Mil58] John Milnor, On the existence of a connection with curvature zero, Comment. Math. Helv. **32** (1958), 215–223.
- [Mit84] Yoshihiko Mitsumatsu, Bounded cohomology and l<sup>1</sup>-homology of surfaces, Topology **23** (1984), no. 4, 465–471.
- [MM85] Shigenori Matsumoto and Shigeyuki Morita, Bounded cohomology of certain groups of homeomorphisms, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 94 (1985), no. 3, 539–544. MR 787909
- [MM86] Darryl McCullough and Andy Miller, The genus 2 Torelli group is not finitely generated, Topology Appl. 22 (1986), no. 1, 43–49.
- [Mon06] Nicolas Monod, An invitation to bounded cohomology, International Congress of Mathematicians. Vol. II, Eur. Math. Soc., Zürich, 2006, pp. 1183–1211.
- [MR18] Kathryn Mann and Christian Rosendal, Large-scale geometry of homeomorphism groups, Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems 38 (2018), no. 7, 2748–2779.
- [MS98] Dusa McDuff and Dietmar Salamon, *Introduction to symplectic topology*, second ed., Oxford Mathematical Monographs, The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1998.
- [MS13] Justin Malestein and Juan Souto, On genericity of pseudo-Anosovs in the Torelli group, Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN (2013), no. 6, 1434–1449.
- [NSW08] Jürgen Neukirch, Alexander Schmidt, and Kay Wingberg, Cohomology of number fields, second ed., Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences], vol. 323, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2008.
- [Ost06] Yaron Ostrover, Calabi quasi-morphisms for some non-monotone symplectic manifolds, Algebr. Geom. Topol. 6 (2006), 405–434.
- [OT09] Yaron Ostrover and Ilya Tyomkin, On the quantum homology algebra of toric Fano manifolds, Selecta Math. (N.S.) **15** (2009), no. 1, 121–149.
- [Ota96] Jean-Pierre Otal, Le théorème d'hyperbolisation pour les variétés fibrées de dimension 3, Astérisque (1996), no. 235, x+159.
- [Poi85] Henri Poincaré, Sur les courbes définies par une équation differentialle, Journal de Mathématiques (4<sup>e</sup> série) t. I Fasc. II (1885), 167–244.
- [PR14] Leonid Polterovich and Daniel Rosen, Function theory on symplectic manifolds, CRM Monograph Series, vol. 34, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2014.
- [Py06] Pierre Py, Quasi-morphismes et invariant de Calabi, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4) 39 (2006), no. 1, 177–195.

### BIBLIOGRAPHY

[Rue85]	David Pierre Ruelle, Rotation numbers for diffeomorphisms and flows,
	Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Phys. Théor. <b>42</b> (1985), no. 1, 109–115.
[Ryb10]	Tomasz Rybicki, Commutators of contactomorphisms, Adv. Math. 225
	(2010), no. 6, 3291–3326.
[She14]	Egor Shelukhin, The action homomorphism, quasimorphisms and mo-
	ment maps on the space of compatible almost complex structures, Com-
	ment. Math. Helv. 89 (2014), no. 1, 69–123.
[Sht15]	Alexander I. Shtern, Extension of pseudocharacters from normal sub-
	groups, Proc. Jangjeon Math. Soc. 18 (2015), no. 4, 427–433.
[Thu74]	William P. Thurston, Foliations and groups of diffeomorphisms, Bull.
	Amer. Math. Soc. 80 (1974), 304–307.
[Thu82]	, Three-dimensional manifolds, Kleinian groups and hyperbolic
	geometry, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 6 (1982), no. 3, 357–381.
[Thu86]	, Hyperbolic structures on 3-manifolds, II: Surface groups and
	3-manifolds which fiber over the circle, 1986.
[Whi78]	George W. Whitehead, <i>Elements of homotopy theory</i> , Graduate Texts
	in Mathematics, vol. 61, Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1978.
[Woo71]	John W. Wood, Bundles with totally disconnected structure group,
-	Comment. Math. Helv. 46 (1971), 257–273.